

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Strategies to Prevent Occupational Fraud in the Financial Sector

Cecile Alicia N. McCormack Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Ethics and Political Philosophy Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Cecile A. N. McCormack

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee
Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. John Hannon, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Roger Mayer, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Strategies to Prevent Occupational Fraud in the Financial Sector

by

Cecile A. N. McCormack

MBA, University of the West Indies 2000 BSc, University of the West Indies, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

Financial business leaders who experience significant occupational fraud lose substantial profits. With a greater understanding of the antifraud strategies needed to protect profit margins, leaders may be able to improve the long-term sustainability of their firms. Grounded in the fraud diamond theory, the purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore strategies financial business managers use to prevent occupational fraud in Kingston, Jamaica. Data were collected from semistructured interviews and documents such as annual reports, training and development manuals, policy and procedure manuals, and financial performance reports. The participants were four managers who worked in a Kingston-based financial organization for a minimum of 3 years and experienced at least one fraud case. Using thematic analysis, three themes were identified, including auditing, internal controls, and human resource intervention. A key recommendation for action is for leaders to develop a robust ethical culture supported by a whistleblowing policy. The results may provide local and international financial sector business managers with insight on best implementing anti-fraud strategies, allowing them to experience greater profitability and business sustainability. Implementing these strategies may enable business leaders to create additional jobs and increase their investment in corporate social responsibility activities in their immediate communities.

Strategies to Prevent Occupational Fraud in the Financial Sector

by

Cecile A. N. McCormack

MBA, University of the West Indies, 2000 BSc, University of the West Indies, 1991

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

During my doctoral journey, I lost two critical friends: doctoral alumnus Dr. Marvia Evangelist-Roach and my mentor, Terry Brown. Both were instrumental in creating a "can-do" attitude in me but, sadly, are not here to share in my joy. Today I am happy that I accepted the doctoral challenge. I am grateful to all who supported me, especially my mother; my sisters, Georgia and Michelle; my children; and my faithful friends. I dedicate this study, which represents the culmination of faith, hope, patience, and perseverance, to all of them.

Acknowledgments

The journey of a thousand miles begins with one step. My mother, Dorothy Dennis, encouraged me to take the first step on this journey. Along with her, my father and my children, Abbigail and Dominic; my sisters, Georgia and Michelle; the members of my gang of five in alphabetical order (Charmaine, Denise, Donnette, and Marlene); my biggest cheerleaders, Doreen and Paulstan; and a host of friends and family members supported me emotionally and physically and walked with me every step of the way. I could not do it without them. I am also grateful to the organization that opened its doors to me to make data collection for this study possible.

I want to acknowledge my chair, Dr. Gwendolyn Dooley, especially. I thank her for providing critical feedback, driving me to deliver excellence, supporting me unwaveringly, and for presenting a lifeline when I needed it. Last but not least, I thank my committee members, Dr. John Hannon and Dr. Robert Banasik, for the tremendous guidance I received during critical points in my DBA journey. On this journey with God, all things became possible. To God be the glory. Great things He hath done.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem and Purpose	2
	Population and Sampling	3
	Nature of the Study	4
	Research Question	5
	Interview Questions	5
	Conceptual Framework	6
	Operational Definitions	7
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	8
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	9
	Contribution to Business Practice	9
	Implications for Social Change	. 10
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
	Conceptual Theory: The Fraud Diamond Theory	. 11
	The Evolution of the Fraud Diamond Theory	. 15
	Supporting and Contrasting Theories	. 17
	Understanding Fraud	. 18

Studies Aligned With Different Conceptual Models	23
Strategies to Prevent Occupational Fraud	23
Summary of the Literature Review	35
Transition	35
Section 2: The Project	37
Purpose Statement	37
Role of the Researcher	37
Participants	40
Research Method and Design	41
Research Method	41
Research Design	42
Ethical Research	44
Data Collection Instruments	47
Data Collection Technique	48
Data Organization Technique	51
Data Analysis	52
Reliability and Validity	54
Reliability	54
Validity	55
Transition and Summary	58
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	59
Presentation of the Findings	60

Theme 1: Auditing	60
Theme 2: Internal Controls	64
Theme 3: Human Resource Intervention	70
Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework	72
Relevance of the Findings to Effective Business Practice	75
Triangulation of Sources	76
Applications to Professional Practice	77
Implications for Social Change	78
Recommendations for Action	79
Recommendations for Further Research	80
Reflections	81
Conclusion	82
References	84
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	112
Appendix B: Invitation for Research Study Participation	114

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Background of the Problem

Occupational fraud affects almost every industry globally. Occupational fraud is a deliberate misrepresentation of the truth by an employee (Association of Certified Fraud Examiners (ACFE), 2022). Annually, organizations experience significant fraud losses. Fraud is the second largest subcategory of corruption (ACFE, 2022) that Beka (2020) described as the intentional abuse of power for personal or collective benefit. Despite numerous attempts to prevent fraud through internal controls and financial regulations, fraud losses continue to increase annually.

Occupational fraud committed by individuals or groups of employees is one of the most significant concerns for the global financial industry. Inaya and Obasuyi (2020) stated that fraud is big business because of the magnitude and degree of the importance of the dollar value involved. According to the Federal Trade Commission (2021) in 2020 consumers worldwide lost more than US \$3.3 billion to fraud. Fraud and corruption are integrity violations in the private and public sectors (de Graaf et al., 2018). Alternatively, the ACFE (2022) identified corruption as a subcategory of fraud that includes bribery, conflict of interest and extortion. Based on the magnitude of fraud losses, it is important to conduct detailed analyses to identify effective antifraud strategies.

Because of its negative impact, business leaders should implement proactive measures to decrease fraud opportunities (Gunasegaran et al., 2018). Despite significant investment in compliance and regulatory scrutiny, the financial industry continues to experience economic crime (Repousis et al., 2019). Because of the high cost of

implementing antifraud measures, many organizations cannot implement internal controls making them vulnerable to fraud (Moore, 2016). Financial sector business leaders must identify strategies to prevent fraud within their organizations. Understanding the drivers of fraud is critical in identifying successful antifraud strategies.

Problem Statement

Fraud is a significant challenge to the business world, especially in the banking sector (Repousis et al., 2019). In 2020, global consumers lost more than U.S. \$3.3 billion to fraud (Federal Trade Commission, 2021). The general business problem is that businesses experience significant financial losses from fraud. The specific business problem is that some financial sector business managers lack strategies to prevent occupational fraud.

Problem and Purpose

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers used to prevent occupational fraud. The population consisted of executive managers of a financial organization in Kingston, Jamaica, who successfully developed strategies to prevent occupational fraud. The results may provide local and international financial sector business managers with insight on how to best implement antifraud strategies, which may allow them to experience greater profitability and business sustainability. Implementing these strategies may enable business leaders to create additional jobs and increase their investment in corporate social responsibility activities in their immediate communities.

Population and Sampling

Researchers use purposive sampling to select participants who can provide rich data. I used purposive sampling to select a sample of four senior managers who worked in a Kingston-based financial organization for a minimum of 3 years. An appropriate sample has participants who best represent or know the research topic (Azungah, 2018). I chose a sample of individuals who could provide rich data.

Researchers often identify people familiar with the study's phenomenon in qualitative sampling. Vasileiou et al. (2018) suggested that small sample sizes help to support deep case-oriented analysis. Sim et al. (2018) indicated that a sample size of four or five participants is acceptable in a case study. A sample of four managers of different units was sufficient to provide rich data for this study. After collecting data from three managers, I sought an additional participant to confirm that I achieved data saturation.

I identified potential participants through purposive sampling based on their knowledge of fraud, tenure, and willingness to participate in the study. Researchers use purposive sampling to select respondents to provide relevant and valuable information (Campbell et al., 2020). Using specific selection criteria, I located critical participants who could provide relevant information. Adewumi and Ogunnubi (2019) suggested that purposive sampling helps identify participants from a target population based on inclusion and exclusion criteria. Techniques such as snowballing, in which participants in the initial sample recruit other participants, were inappropriate.

Participants should be comfortable during their interviews. Lobe et al. (2020) highlighted the transition from face-to-face data collection to a "socially distant" method

during the COVID-19 pandemic during which I collected data. The COVID-19 pandemic began in December 2019 (Deekonda et al., 2022). I interviewed participants via the Zoom online videoconferencing platform. Jongsma et al. (2020) suggested that study participants choose the location to conduct their interviews. I allowed participants to select the most comfortable interview location for their online discussion.

Nature of the Study

The three research methods available to researchers are quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods. For this study, I chose the qualitative research method. Taguchi (2018) noted that researchers use the exploratory qualitative method to understand multiple elements in a system. The qualitative approach is an open-ended, exploratory stance in which researchers can commit to understanding the reasons behind a phenomenon (Taguchi, 2018). Qualitative researchers understand social phenomena by analyzing participants' views and experiences.

This study did not involve the testing of hypotheses. Researchers use the quantitative method to confirm or disconfirm hypotheses (Taguchi, 2018). The quantitative method was inappropriate for this study because I did not examine relationships among study variables and, therefore, did not test hypotheses. Mixed-methods research involves collecting and analyzing qualitative and quantitative data in a single study (Hanson et al., 2005). The mixed-method method was unsuitable for this study because I did not collect or analyze quantitative data, which is integral to the mixed approach.

I considered three qualitative research designs for this study: (a) case study, (b) narrative, and (c) phenomenological. I chose the case study design because a case study is ideal for conducting an in-depth analysis of behaviors through respondents' real-world perspectives. Researchers can use a case study to investigate experiences related to a single phenomenon while retaining a holistic and real-world view of the behavior (Yin, 2014). Narrative inquiry is a study where the researcher emphasizes the importance of individuals' lived experiences in interacting with the world around them (Jones, 2016). Narrative researchers collect stories from individuals about their lived and told experiences (Yin, 2014), which was not the purpose of this study.

A researcher uses a phenomenological design to gain direct insight into individuals' lived experiences to make sense of the world and develop a worldview (O'Neil & Koekemoer, 2016). Gaining insight into participants' lived experiences was not the purpose of this study, so the phenomenological design was inappropriate. The most suitable design for this study was the case study design. The case study was appropriate because a case study allowed me to explore effective antifraud strategies by collecting and analyzing data from interviews and the organization's operations guideline documents.

Research Question

What effective antifraud strategies do financial sector business managers use to prevent occupational fraud?

Interview Questions

1. What strategies have you used to prevent occupational fraud in your organization?

- 2. What internal controls are in place to prevent occupational fraud?
- 3. What are some advantages of implementing occupational fraud prevention strategies?
- 4. What strategies were the most effective in preventing occupational fraud?
- 5. How did you measure the effectiveness of the successful strategies?
- 6. What were the results after you implemented these strategies?
- 7. What additional information would you like to share on strategies that have successfully prevented occupational fraud?

Conceptual Framework

The theoretical framework was the fraud diamond theory. The fraud triangle theory (FTT) evolved into the fraud diamond with four elements: opportunity, pressure, rationalization, and capability (Kazemian et al., 2019). According to the fraud diamond theory, for fraud to exist, four mandatory conditions must exist collectively: (a) incentive, usually in the form of financial pressure, (b) opportunity, (c) rationalization, and (d) capability (Yendrawati et al., 2019). Capability is necessary for fraud to be committed. Wolfe and Hermanson (2004) also posited that an individual's position or function might furnish the ability to create or exploit an opportunity for fraud not available to others. Abdullahi and Mansor (2015) supported Wolfe and Hermanson's notion, emphasizing that the perpetrator must have the skills and ability to commit fraud. The fraud diamond theory highlights the importance of identifying fraud opportunities ahead of the fraudulent act. The fraud diamond theory provided a lens for me to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers used to prevent occupational fraud.

Operational Definitions

The following are definitions of terms used in the study:

Corporate culture: The combination of shared behaviors, values, goals, and practices that defines an institution or organization (Koçak & Demir, 2019).

Ethical culture: A culture in which managers and employees are clear about what constitutes unethical and ethical behavior in the organization (Roque et al., 2020).

Instrumental climate: An organizational climate characterized by individuals prioritizing their own needs (egoism) in making decisions (Nahartyo et al., 2020).

Organizational culture: The combination of structures, routines, rules, and norms in an organization that guide and limit behavior (Koçak & Demir, 2019).

Occupational fraud: Fraud committed by employees against their organization (Suh et al., 2019).

Person-organization fit: The compatibility between organizational values and goals and individual values and goals (Haryonor, 2021).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Researchers use assumptions as a guide while conducting a study. Levitt et al.

(2021) defined assumptions as plausible information that a researcher assumes to be true without verifying the accuracy through research. The first assumption was that business managers in the selected organization would participate in this study. The second assumption was that all business executives would provide details of instances of occupation fraud that they experienced. The third assumption was that participants would

answer the questions honestly. My fourth assumption was that participants would correctly remember details about their experiences with fraud in the organization. All assumptions held true. Business managers participated willingly and provided information that I verified. Managers' responses also concurred with information within company documents analyzed.

Limitations

Limitations are weaknesses that are not within the researcher's control, which can impact the outcome of a study. Munthe-Kaas et al. (2018) defined limitations as restrictions that researchers identify but cannot address. The first limitation was the small sample size (*n* = 4) of the research. Morse (2015) suggested that a small sample could affect transferability. The researcher may not be able to generalize the results using data collected from a small sample. The second potential limitation was that participants' responses might be subjective. Ngongo et al. (2015) suggested that the interviewer's observable characteristics, such as age, ethnicity, and gender, could influence respondents. I verified objectivity using methodological triangulation. The third limitation was time constraint. As the primary person collecting, analyzing, and interpreting data, I faced time constraints. To address this limitation, I presented each participant with multiple interview time slots within a 2-day window. Despite the limitations the findings are useful in guiding future research on fraud and would help improve the fraud-prevention standards of financial organizations..

Delimitations

Researchers can use specific characteristics to establish the scope of a study.

Baxter and Jack (2008) stated that because the boundaries between the phenomenon and the context of its occurrence may not be apparent, researchers should limit the scope of the study in a case study. Delimitations are the specific factors or characteristics that a researcher uses to define the scope and boundaries (Leedy & Ormrod, 2016). The first delimitation was the geographical area, which was the urban area of Kingston, Jamaica. The second delimitation was the job category of participants. Only members of management participated in the study. The final delimitation was that I only interviewed participants who had been with the organization within the past 3 years. Future researchers exploring fraud should consider conducting studies in other countries among multiple organizations and using a larger sample.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

This study's findings may be valuable to businesses because fraud profoundly impacts the financial sector. Internationally, fraud and corruption in financial institutions contribute to severe banking and economic crises (Suh et al., 2019). Niu et al. (2019) posited that corporate fraud could damage trustworthiness, threatening market security and the economy. I sought to contribute to business practice by exploring strategies that financial sector business managers can implement to prevent fraud. Fraud has a profound impact on the financial sector. Internationally, fraud and corruption in financial institutions contribute to significant disruption in the financial industry. When financial sector business leaders understand the threat of fraud to the organization's sustainability, they may be able to implement antifraud business practices to protect their customers and

organization. The findings may enable financial sector leaders to identify and implement effective antifraud strategies to prevent economic losses.

Implications for Social Change

A study of antifraud strategies may be valuable to the financial sector because fraud contributes to worldwide losses. Preventing fraud within organizations may therefore result in improved profitability. Organizational leaders perform corporate social responsibility activities to respond to the community's health, social, and economic needs (Barrio-Fraile & Enrique-Jiménez, 2021). Reducing financial losses may enable organizations to increase their investment in social and environmental activities and provide job opportunities to immediate community members.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers used to prevent occupational fraud in their organizations. In the literature review, I address definitions of fraud, causes, risks, and preventative strategies that financial business sector managers have successfully applied to prevent fraud. The literature included 180 scholarly articles from Google Scholar and the Walden University Library databases ABI/Inform Complete, Emerald Management, Business Source Complete, ProQuest Central, and SAGE Journals Online. Academic Source Complete and the Business Source Complete databases were the primary databases that were used. Other sources include books, dissertations, and online periodicals. I searched for literature using terms such as *employee fraud*, *occupational fraud*, *corruption*, and *employee theft*. Approximately 87% of the sources in the review were peer reviewed and published between 2018 and 2022.

The literature review consists of four major sections. The first section includes the background and discussion of the worldwide state of fraud. The second section includes details of the fraud diamond conceptual theory, which formed the basis of the study. The third section includes discussion of supporting and contrasting fraud theories and their evolution. In the final section, I discuss antifraud strategies that financial sector business managers can use to prevent fraud.

Conceptual Theory: The Fraud Diamond Theory

The conceptual framework was the foundation of the study and informed the organization of the literature review. In reviewing conceptual frameworks, Nakano and

Muniz (2018) posited that the conceptual framework is a guide for the research and forms the main concepts of the research. In 1950, Cressey established the FTT and identified three drivers that lead financial criminals to commit fraud: (a) opportunity, (b) perceived financial pressure, and (c) rationalization (Hashim et al., 2020). All three elements must be present for fraud to take place.

Alternative crime theories such as the fraud triangle have grown from the crime triangle theory, which evolved from the crime settings model. Burke and Sanney (2018) described the fraud triangle as a model explaining three factors that cause individuals to commit occupational fraud. Crime settings theories rely on the principle that easy or tempting opportunities entice people into criminal activity (Suh et al., 2019). Proponents of the fraud triangle and fraud diamond theories suggest that people can prevent crime by eliminating opportunities.

The FTT focuses on three key dimensions. Christian et al. (2019) highlighted capability as the fourth element, which expanded the fraud triangle into the fraud diamond model. The addition of capability suggested that although perceived pressure may coexist with opportunity and rationalization, fraud cannot occur unless the fraudster has the skills and ability to commit fraud (Paschoal et al., 2020). Omukaga (2021) argued that the fraud equation is not complete without capability, which defines the potential perpetrator's ability and skills to commit fraud. Fraud occurs when all four elements of the fraud diamond theory exist.

Opportunity

Opportunity represents situations that can lead to fraud. An opportunity occurs

because of ineffective control or governance systems that facilitate fraud in organizations (Omukaga, 2021). Vousinas (2019) described opportunity as the ability to commit fraud and suggested that perpetrators perceive opportunity as real. Weak internal controls represent a primary opportunity that may result in fraud (Christian et al., 2019). To control fraud, leaders must eliminate opportunity, the first enabler in creating fraud.

Fraudsters begin their journey by identifying weaknesses and opportunities to commit fraud. Opportunities that allow fraud often result from a lack of supervision, ineffective internal oversight, and abuse of authority (Rengganis et al., 2019). Burke and Sanney (2018) also identified that a lack of controls allowed fraudsters to conceal their activities and create future opportunities for fraud. Opportunities also arise if authorized individuals work unmonitored, receive too much responsibility, or have no separation of duties or checks and balances (Burke & Sanney, 2018). Checks and balances are necessary to prevent fraud.

Persons commit fraud when they believe a genuine opportunity exists. Although the offender must perceive opportunities as real, the position and authority of the individuals within an organization also create the opportunity to commit fraud (Vousinas, 2019). Nawawi and Salin (2018) noted that fraudsters will always create an opportunity to commit fraud if there is a loophole in the operating standard procedures. Well-planned schemes drive fraudulent behavior (Maulidi & Ansell, 2021). Organization leaders must continually assess the risk of fraud to eliminate the chance of fraud.

Pressure

The second element in the fraud diamond theory is pressure. The pressure to

commit fraud may be financial or nonfinancial in nature (Vousinas, 2019). Real or perceived pressure inspires individuals to engage in unethical behavior (Omukaga, 2021). Vousinas (2019) suggested that pressure may relate directly to the need to report better results or a person's desire to prove they can defeat the system. The risk of fraud depends on the type of pressure fraudsters face. Pressure to commit fraud may take several forms. Pressure may be financial, nonfinancial, social, or political (Omukaga, 2021). Gottschalk (2017) noted that illegal activity could represent a convenient solution that an individual or the organization otherwise finds challenging to solve when facing strain, greed, or other situations. However, opportunity and financial stress will combine with pressure to increase the chance of fraud taking place.

Rationalization

The third element in the fraud diamond theory is rationalization. Criminals use rationalization attempts to justify that unethical behavior differs from criminal activity (Omukaga, 2021). Vousinas (2019) also posited that rationalization enables the criminal to justify the decision before committing the fraud. Individuals rationalize their fraudulent activities by offering excuses to justify the behavior as acceptable (Burke & Sanney, 2018). Hence, fraudsters will rationalize to explain their actions before committing fraud. Criminals try to rationalize their delinquent behavior by identifying an appropriate motive. Vousinas (2019) identified rationalization as part of the motivation for the crime. Shepherd and Button (2019) defined rationalization as a mental distortion that produces a false explanation of deviant behavior. Fraudsters will continue to rationalize their actions until organizations intervene to end fraud activities.

Capability

Capability is the fourth element in the fraud diamond theory. Vousinas (2019) defined capability as the personal traits and abilities that play a significant role in committing fraud when pressure, opportunity, and rationalization exist. Harrison et al. (2020) posited that capability includes factors within an individual's control, such as confidence in one's abilities to avoid detection and the ability to lie convincingly and consistently. Maulidi and Ansell (2021) added that fraud might not occur without the capability to commit fraud despite opportunities, pressure, and rationalization. Leaders must manage capability, which increases the likelihood of fraud when the three other elements exist.

The Evolution of the Fraud Diamond Theory

New approaches to understanding and preventing fraud have emerged since the development of the FTT. Subsequent ideas include the fraud diamond (Pamungkas et al., 2018); the money, ideology, coercion, and ego (MICE) (Kranacher et al., 2010); the fraud scale (Skousen, 2009), the stimulus, capability, opportunity, rationalization, and ego (SCORE) (Vousinas, 2019); and the fraud hexagon models (Vousinas, 2019). The risk factors of various fraud theories have their genesis in the FTT. Burke and Sanney (2018) suggested that the three fraud triangle factors are interrelated; if situational pressures and opportunities are significant and personal integrity is low, fraud is more likely to occur. Almost all other fraud theories developed from the FTT.

The fraud scale model differs from the FTT. In the fraud scale model, personal integrity replaced rationalization because personal integrity is critical to ethical decision-

making (Vousinas, 2019). In the fraud scale model, it is possible to assess fraud's probability when one simultaneously considers pressure, opportunity, and integrity. The lack of personal integrity increases the likelihood of perpetrators exploiting internal control weaknesses.

Some scholars have indicated that ego facilitates fraud. Kranacher et al. (2010) developed the MICE model, suggesting that money, ideology, coercion, and ego link directly to fraudsters' motivations. In the MICE model, the focus is extended to ideology because the fraudster's decision to achieve a perceived greater good through fraud is consistent with their beliefs. Vousinas (2019) later introduced the SCORE model, which identifies fraud drivers as stimulus, capability, opportunity, rationalization, and ego (Vousinas, 2019). Vousinas extended the SCORE model to the fraud hexagon by adding the sixth element of collusion. Consequently, the relevance of individual fraud models may depend on the situational factors of each case.

No single fraud model can assess each fraud case. Despite multiple theories of fraud, no single theoretical approach explains why corporate employees and management commit fraudulent crimes (Van Akkeron & Buckby, 2017). The FTT and the fraud diamond models converge on three elements: pressure to commit fraud, opportunity to exploit the organizational weaknesses, and rationalization. However, scholars argue that capability is the turning point in which fraudsters recognize fraud opportunities and convert them into reality (Omukaga, 2021). Given the importance of capability, the fraud diamond model may be the most appropriate model for identifying antifraud solutions.

Supporting and Contrasting Theories

The Fraud Triangle Theory

The FTT has faced criticism for incompleteness. Machado and Gartner (2018) suggested that the FTT ignored conditions such as immorality, the business environment, and a high standard of living, which are essential for violations of trust. Maulidi and Ansell (2021) also suggested that fraud links individuals and their environment.

Behavioral strategy theories also enrich corporate fraud information and contribute to detecting and preventing corporate fraud (Natalis, 2020). Based on the FTT, perpetrators do not need rationalization to commit the crime.

The presence of a motive will not always result in fraud. Motives may only partially explain fraud. Lederman (2021) noted that the FTT lacks predictive power and only describes existing fraud cases. Maulidi and Ansell (2021) suggested that a false characterization of the causes of fraud by the fraud triangle ignores the complexities of fraud management. Expanding the FTT becomes necessary to increase its relevance.

The SCORE Theory

Scholars have argued that the four elements of the fraud diamond theory are insufficient for fraud to occur. Some individuals even engage in fraudulent acts to maintain their ego (Koomson et al., 2020). Vousinas (2019) suggested that while some individuals were naturally more ethical, personality was a highly influential factor in the decision, and ego was a common thread in most cases. Koomson et al. (2020) posited that by including ego, the SCORE model became broader in scope and should provide a valuable extension to understanding fraud. Ego, therefore, can be the deciding factor for

some persons to commit financial crimes.

An individual's ego is a primary factor that encourages collaboration. An individual's ego is also fundamental in determining why individuals engage in fraud, such as asset misappropriation (Koomson et al., 2020). According to Vousinas (2019), the sensation of power over another individual may be a strong motivator for some fraud offenders. Ego combines with collaboration to facilitate more significant fraud when offenders join their knowledge to commit financial crimes.

The MICE Theory

Fraudsters sometimes experience coercion before committing fraud. The MICE model extends beyond financial pressures to provide an expanded set of motivations beyond a non-shareable financial strain that could drive fraud (Desai, 2020). Kranacher et al. (2010) also suggested that ego plays a critical role in assessing the risk of detection. Vousinas (2019) identified the Robert Allen Stanford U.S. \$7 billion and the Madoff U.S. \$61 billion Ponzi schemes as fraud cases in which ego was the motivating factor. Ego will also combine with coercion to impact fraudsters' willingness to participate without fearing detection.

Understanding Fraud

Scholars have described fraud as white-collar crime and corruption or referred to fraud and corruption separately. Financial fraud crimes have been associated with funding illicit activities such as organized crime and drug trafficking (Hilal et al., 2022). Theorists have distinguished accidental fraudsters driven by pressure from predators who act opportunistically (Desai, 2020). Individuals working alone or in groups can perpetrate

fraud (Maulidi & Ansell, 2021). Organization leaders must conduct a detailed assessment and implement adequate antifraud controls to prevent financial losses.

Researchers have defined fraud and corruption in multiple ways. Hope (2019) described corruption as employee behavior in which employees improperly and unlawfully advance their private interests or those of others, contrary to the interests of the office or position they occupy. Beka (2020) defined corruption as any form of abuse of power for personal or collective benefit, whether in the public or private sector, and observed that corruption exists if an employee intentionally violates the principle of impartiality. The primary characteristic of fraud is an employee's intentional violation of trust, resulting in illegal personal gains.

Employees at all levels commit fraud. Fraud is an internal attack against the organization by its members. In this crime, the perpetrator attempts to gain from intentionally misappropriating the organization's financial resources (Moore, 2016). White-collar criminals or trust violators commit fraud in a business environment, usually without force, while gaining economic advantage for themselves or their organizations (Schuchter & Levi, 2015). Management is primarily responsible for providing an ethical environment to avoid fraud (Ugaddan & Park, 2018). Organizational leaders must implement measures to mitigate employee violation of trust.

White-collar crime exists in three primary categories. According to Hanrahan (2017), in the selfish category, an employee steals from the employer, customers, or suppliers; in the corporate success category, the individual engages in unlawful conduct for the corporation's benefit, and in the corporate class, an officer acting on board

instructions commits fraud. The total annual losses due to financial fraud in the United States are more than \$400 billion and are most prevalent in the financial industry, according to Hilal et al. (2022). The banking and financial service industries face the inherent risk of fraud in all three categories.

Fraud awareness has improved significantly over the years. Over the last 2 decades, several high-profile occupational fraud cases have increased awareness of occupational fraud, including those at Enron, WorldCom, and HealthSouth (Moore, 2016). Greed and dishonest acts to satisfy desires drive most fraudsters to commit the act (Brody et al., 2019). Therefore, tackling fraud is a lengthy, complicated procedure requiring a deep understanding of fraud drivers and how to mitigate fraud (Vousinas, 2019). I used the fraud diamond theory as a conceptual lens to understand the drivers and identify solutions.

Types of Financial Fraud

Financial Statement

Financial statement fraud contributes to significant losses. Kassem (2019) identified four main types of financial statement fraud: (a) improper revenue recognition, (b) concealed liabilities and expenses, (c) improper assets valuation, and (d) improper disclosure. Individuals such as the president, chief executive officer, or chief financial officer of organizations often commit corporate financial statement fraud. Kopun (2020) defined financial statement fraud as the deliberate misrepresentation of an organization's financial situation by intentional misstatement, omission of amounts, or disclosure in the financial statements to deceive financial statement users. Because leaders are at the heart

of financial statement crimes, preventing financial statement fraud requires implementing management controls.

Financial statement fraud negatively affects consumer confidence. Lamptey and Singh (2018) stated that financial statement fraud has the detrimental effects of negative reputation, poor business relationships, and financial losses. Although the frequency of financial statement fraud is low, the cost is high. Shonhadji and Maulidi (2021) identified whistleblowing systems and fraud awareness as deterrents of financial statement fraud. For this reason, organizational leaders should implement anonymous reporting systems to eliminate the detrimental effects of financial statement fraud.

Asset Misappropriation

Asset misappropriation is the most frequently occurring financial fraud worldwide. Between 2021 and 2022 misappropriation of assets accounted for 86% of the three main fraud categories (ACFE, 2022). Asset misappropriation occurs when an employee steals or misuses the organization's resources by stealing company cash, submitting false billing statements, or inflating expense reports (Koomson et al., 2020). Employees' asset misappropriation may occur as theft of cash or noncash items (Kazemian et al., 2019). Although the cost of misappropriation may be less than the costs of other categories of fraud, organizations must reduce the frequency of theft to ensure financial sustainability.

Many organizational leaders believe that implementing internal controls will prevent the misappropriation of assets. However, multiple control strategies are most effective in avoiding asset misappropriation. Zulkaply (2019) found that pressure and

opportunity combined effectively to motivate the misuse of assets. Tran and Le (2018) found that when control activities, information, and communication are combined with a controlled environment, the controlled climate presented the most substantial impact in preventing the misappropriation of assets. Organizations must rely on multiple strategies to avoid asset misuse and reduce fraud risk.

Corruption

Corruption is the third category of fraud. Corruption includes offenses such as bribery, conflicts of interest, and extortion. Corruption is an act in which public or private sector officials improperly or unlawfully enrich themselves by misusing the positions they hold (Kazemian et al., 2019). Approximately two thirds of asset misappropriation cases involve one perpetrator, with losses 4 times higher when collusion exists (Robinson-Fish et al., 2020). Organizational leaders should implement checks and balances as an effective antifraud strategy for corruption.

Corruption in business has expanded significantly with globalization. Public, private, pervasive, and arbitrary corruption are the four primary types of corruption (Bahoo et al., 2020). Lima and Delen (2020) suggested that using artificial intelligence and machine learning techniques aids in detecting and understanding governmental fraud and international corruption. Despite the benefits of eliminating corruption, curbing corruption in developing countries sometimes adversely affects their financial development (Song et al., 2021). Implementing preventative strategies has become even more critical with the global expansion of corruption.

Studies Aligned With Different Conceptual Models

Researchers have conducted numerous studies using various fraud theories.

Machado and Gartner (2018) used the agency theory to test the three dimensions of the fraud triangle model in their study of financial fraud in Brazilian banks. Researchers seek to analyze the formal contractual relationship between agents and principals in agency theory. Scholars often combine the agency theory with the economics of crime to better understand the drivers of fraud, such as compensation and financial trust. Therefore, combining agency theory with the FTT helps assess the likelihood of corporate fraud.

Scholars have examined the use of internal controls to reduce fraud losses within organizations effectively. Peltier-Rivest and Lanoue (2015) conducted a quantitative study of 90 cases of fraud committed in Canadian organizations, using survey data from the ACFE. The authors used six internal control variables and the organization's annual sales as the independent variable to control the potential influence of the organization's size on total fraud losses. The authors identified that hotlines, surprise audits, and ethics training for employees and managers reduced fraud losses when used independently.

Strategies to Prevent Occupational Fraud

Fraud Risk Management

Organization leaders should utilize multiple means to reduce the risk of fraud.

One means of managing fraud risk is through a robust corporate governance system. An intense fraud risk management process consists of at least five stages: determining the objectives, identifying the risks, evaluating the risks, determining preventive action, and implementing and reviewing (Madah Marzuki et al., 2020). In online organizations,

preventative measures include implementing robust authentication systems and information and communication security frameworks to limit fraud effectively. Effective preventive methods must consist of policy, information, and technology strategies.

Ethical Leadership

The ethical style of a leader influences the behavior of the organization. Adiguzel and Cakir (2021) defined moral leadership as ideal leaders who display honesty and goodness rather than personal interest and are respected and admired. Ethical leadership emphasizes morality as a critical personal and professional trait, focusing specifically on trustworthiness, credibility, care, fairness, and role modeling (Karim & Nadeem, 2019). Karim and Nadeem (2019) further posited that ethical leaders should become role models by demonstrating and promoting honesty, integrity, and trust in their followers. Leaders must align their words and actions to show their moral position clearly.

Leaders influence all areas of the organization, including members' interpretations. Raso (2020) suggested that when leaders demonstrate their values, they share, live, and display them as an example to all. Before leaders begin creating an ethical organizational culture, they need to understand the existing state of their corporate culture (Čmelíková, 2017). As the quality of leader-follower interaction increases, the ethical outcomes of followers also increase. (Naeem et al., 2019). Because leaders influence behavior, each must ensure that leadership actions demonstrate the intended organizational values.

Organizations' leaders attempt to recruit employees with values similar to those within the organization. Leaders play a critical role in developing ethical skills (Shakeel

et al., 2019). Ethical leaders influence person-organizational fit since many employees identify with leaders and emulate their ethical behaviors (Grobler & Grobler, 2021). Roque et al. (2020) further identified that leaders enormously influence creating, supporting, and destroying an ethical culture. Leadership action must reflect the values that recruiters desire in new employees.

Employees sometimes display and legitimize unethical behavior. In examining the impact of ethical leadership on unethical employee behavior, Gan (2018) stated that honest managers as moral leaders should demand high ethical standards and hold employees accountable for the moral consequences of their behaviors. In a study of ethical leadership across six countries, researchers identified six ethical leadership themes: accountability, consideration, respect for others, fairness and non-discriminatory treatment, character, collective orientation, and openness and flexibility (Kimura & Nishikawa, 2018). However, Kimura and Nishikawa (2018) also identified six unethical themes: self-interest and misusing power, deception and dishonesty, and lack of accountability, leading to fraud. To prevent unethical behavior, leaders must communicate high ethical standards through their actions.

Leaders sometimes commit fraud. Organizational leaders regularly encounter ethical issues and constant pressure, which require moral courage to confront unethical behaviors and questionable practices (Ganu, 2018). An ethical leader should convey high moral standards and inspire subordinates to voice their feelings and recommendations about ethical conduct issues (Raza et al., 2021). Roque et al. (2020) also recognized the possibility of unethical leadership and the importance of promoting

individual responsibility to develop a culture that resists corruption. An organization's leadership tone must reflect behaviors that support personal ethical responsibility and prevent fraud.

Developing an Ethical Organizational Culture

Organizational culture influences employee behavior. Koçak and Demir (2019) defined culture as combinations of structures, routines, rules, values, and beliefs shaped by leadership attitudes that guide and limit behavior. An ethical culture should form the basis of employees' ethical behavior (Cabana & Kaptein, 2021). However, organizational ethical behavior is not spontaneous but occurs through specific actions and managerial declarations (Villegas et al., 2019). Managers must openly demonstrate ethical decision-making to communicate desired employee behavior within the organization's culture.

New employees' values should match those of an organization's culture. However, as people enter a unique cultural setting, they struggle to acclimate and identify with their host environment (Glazer et al., 2018). Researchers define cultural fit as value congruence, the extent to which an individual's values are similar to the overall values in the social environment (Glazer et al., 2018). Within organizations, personal and professional ethics guide individual decisions (Pareto, 2020). However, where employee and organization interests and focus do not align, the organizations may experience person-organization misfits during recruitment.

Scholars often define ethics in the context of an organization's ethical values.

Pareto (2020) described the code of ethics as the values, principles, and abstract ideals

such as transparency and integrity by which the organization defines itself. Organizations can use positive ethos to create positive employee attitudes (Emami et al., 2018). An organization with well-defined values experiences sustained profitability and abovenormal financial performance (Čmelíková, 2017). Consequently, a leader's ethical position will influence the organization's long-term economic performance through well-defined moral values.

Employees also influence the ethical culture of the organization. An organization with an honest atmosphere will experience few counterproductive behaviors (Emami et al., 2018). An organization's culture may contain two vital elements of social groups: structural stability of a set of people and assimilation of an individual to specific values. Many leaders understand the need to establish a set of defined corporate values that promote integrity and consistent compliance with rules (Bussmann & Niemeczek, 2019). Because leadership action influences employee behavior and compliance with organizational values, leaders must ensure that their actions promote integrity.

Employee behavior usually mimics leadership behavior. Ethical leaders enhance their followers' confidence and shape their behaviors and motivational patterns (Naeem et al., 2019). Similarly, employees gauge their behavior based on their interpretation of what leaders accept. Where there is a need to change behaviors, managers and supervisors can influence employee ethical behavior by transforming and managing the organization's ethics (Emami et al., 2018). Leaders must demonstrate the values that promote desired employee behavior to change behaviors.

An organization's culture reflects the nature of its relationships. Leaders must

create an ethical climate that strengthens relationships, forges reputations, and helps the firm succeed (Villegas et al., 2019). The moral atmosphere of the organization is one of the most important organizational factors that influence the occurrence of counterproductive work behaviors in the organization (Emami et al., 2018). For example, researchers have identified an association between an unfair working environment and the existence of fraud, which arises when employees think that the organization is not taking care of them (Nawawi & Salin, 2018). To eliminate fraud, leaders should instill values of fairness as part of the organization's culture and establish an organizational climate that promotes compliance.

An ethical organizational climate is essential to preventing fraud within organizations. Zaal et al. (2019) defined ethical culture as the shared assumptions and beliefs of organization members that promote ethical conduct and impede unethical behavior. The ethical climate of an organization influences the moral judgment of employees. When the leaders do not practice ethical leadership, they induce employees to commit fraud, as employees observe that management does not correctly address ethical conduct (Kazemian et al., 2019). Leaders should embrace honesty and integrity as a natural part of leadership to create an organizational climate that discourages fraud.

Internal Controls

Implementing internal controls helps prevent fraud. A well-designed and effective internal control system helps prevent and deter errors and irregularities (Akmese & Gundogan, 2020). Adequate controls may include dual responsibility, checks and balances, and random audits. Employees regularly take advantage of weak controls and

management indifference (Shepherd & Button, 2019). To strengthen internal controls, organizations must focus on internal controls as a primary strategy to eliminate fraud.

Forensic accountants and auditors are a critical part of internal control systems.

Repousis et al. (2019) found that having an efficient internal control system ensured a complementary relationship and continuous cooperation among all parties with control responsibilities, including internal and external auditors. Executive leaders sometimes perpetrate fraud because of the authority they hold. Suh et al. (2019) identified management override and collusion as two of the most severe risks to the counter-fraud effort. Effective antifraud measures must include detailed audits of management activity.

Junior employees may commit fraud through instruction from their leaders. To prevent this occurrence, leaders should implement effective antifraud systems. An effective internal control system can restrict the management power and prevent the executives' misappropriation of assets (Wang et al., 2021). Li (2022) stated that artificial intelligence technology enables machines to perform tasks that previously required manual operation, allowing decision-makers more time for business strategy. Leaders should combine multiple strategies to combat fraud at all levels of the organization.

No individual antifraud strategy can prevent occupational fraud completely. However, surprise audits, regular review of internal controls, risk management, mandatory job rotation, and rewards to whistleblowers combine effectively to prevent fraud (Nawawi & Salin, 2018). Fraud can create significant financial disruption within organizations. Private and public sector organizations understand the need to secure the stability, productivity, and service levels of the operations they are responsible for

(Shepherd & Button, 2019). Organizations should, therefore, strengthen internal controls by combining antifraud strategies rather than applying each individually.

Organizations should segregate duties to reduce the risk of fraud. Segregation of duties is necessary to eliminate the incentives for collusion to perpetrate employee fraud (Akmese & Gundogan, 2020). The principle of duality is an effective control method since no individual can solely complete assigned tasks. Oversight by an influential audit committee will assist in preventing fraud.

Leaders must establish rules to regulate employee behavior. Segregation of duties helps prevent employee fraud by reducing the possibility of collusion wherever there are conflicts of interest (Kim et al., 2020). Within organizations, leaders should ensure the segregation of duties among employees at all levels. An organization where employees violate the segregation of duties enables fraudsters to perpetuate and cover fraud (Fish et al., 2021). Consequently, organizational leaders should use multiple techniques to control fraud and include individual penalties to deter fraud.

Values-Based Human Resource Recruitment

Organizations can control fraud risk through the recruitment process.

Organizational leaders select employees possessing specific personality traits for their positions (Houdek, 2020). The recruitment process is critical in maintaining the ideal culture. Villegas et al. (2019) identified that human resource managers should understand the ethical implications of hiring the right person. Warrick and Gardner (2021) further suggested that leaders focus on recruiting by cultural fit. Identifying a potential employee's values during and not after recruitment is critical to preventing fraud.

During recruitment, managers should focus on the ethical values of individuals. Value-based recruitment recommends multiple recruitment approaches to select candidates whose personal values align with the organization (Ritchie et al., 2018). Managers should combine recruitment strategies to identify employees whose values best fit the organizational values. As ethical gatekeepers for organizations, hiring managers must select honest candidates who can complement the moral climate of an organization (Villegas et al., 2019). During recruitment, managers should apply the techniques of matching individual values to organizational values to identify the candidates they need.

Organizations can successfully eliminate fraud through efficient hiring practices. Organizations use the person-organization fit to hire the right people to match individuals with the organization's culture (Hanna et al., 2021). Person-organization fit refers to the extent to which organizational and individual values match (Coldwell et al., 2019). However, Vincent (2019) suggested that organizations perform background checks to verify criminal records to reduce the likelihood of a bad hire and manage associated risk exposure. Once hired, the organization's leaders should communicate the ethical expectations for the position to all applicants (Villegas et al., 2019). Organizations will hire employees who live and promote established corporate values to eliminate fraud by communicating expectations.

Recruiters should focus on values congruence as they seek to hire the right employees. Many organizations attempt to select individuals who share their cultural values because individuals who do not fit often leave (Dawson et al., 2020). As recruiters complete the selection process, it is essential to identify employees who share ideal

values and communicate them to other team members. However, Groothuizen et al. (2018) stated that while values and personality factors influence motivation and behavior, having the correct values does not automatically guarantee the right organizational behaviors. As leaders seek to recruit ideal employees, they should also demonstrate excellent values and promote desired employee behaviors through their actions.

Leaders influence organizational culture through their values and actions. Villegas et al. (2019) proposed a three-step hiring process, which ensures that managers fulfill their duty of ethical hiring: (a) identifying ethical character through behavioral interview questions; (b) demonstrating ethical activity in their mannerisms and deeds, and (c) cultivating their sensitivity to being able to identify and become aware of ethical situations. Employees act ethically based on their interpretation of leaders' actions. This is because leaders are the primary influencers of culture through their values which influence the organizational success (Warrick & Gardner, 2021). Leaders who invest significant time in maintaining a strong ethical position will hire employees with the desired values and actions.

Organizational leadership should adopt appropriate recruitment and assessment techniques to meet their recruitment goals. Aspects of an individual's characteristics should align with the corporate culture and be used to predict future work attitudes and behaviors (Dawson et al., 2020). The UK National Health Service implemented a values-based approach to recruiting nursing students using the values-congruence principle to align nurse values with the National Health Service Constitution (Groothuizen et al., 2018). Multiple strategies increase the accuracy with which recruiters identify and select

ideal candidates. The values-based recruitment methodology uses various methods to assess candidates' skills, attitudes, behaviors, and competencies, allowing recruiters to make more reliable judgments (Ritchie et al., 2018). As organizations combine recruitment methods, selecting ethical candidates will improve.

Whistleblowing

Whistleblowers primarily report illegal acts within organizations. Ceva and Bocchiola (2019) defined whistleblowing as reporting immoral or unlawful conduct by members of a legitimate organization with information on alleged wrongdoing.

Whistleblowers' data is critical to identifying and solving fraud. Whistleblowing, therefore, allows the receipt, review, and investigation of complaints of suspected fraud, violations of law, and ethics by employees (Yusuf, 2019). Organizational leaders must embrace whistleblowing as an integral part of the culture to effectively control and prevent fraud.

Data show that whistleblowing is an effective fraud-prevention technique.

Employee whistleblowers are a critical source for detecting and disclosing wrongdoing in organizations (Olesen, 2022). Management and employee fraud result in significant losses annually, so whistleblowing becomes essential to fraud prevention.

Whistleblowing has become an effective means of revealing fraud and cutting losses (Nayir et al., 2018). However, despite the effectiveness of whistleblowing, many organizational leaders do not implement whistleblowing systems as an effective antifraud strategy.

Leaders must engage employees continuously as part of their antifraud strategies.

Practical anticorruption activities are impossible without members of civil society organizations (Shostko, 2020). Countries worldwide have established antifraud regulatory frameworks such as the Sarbanes—Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform to protect whistleblowers. However, despite the presence of regulatory frameworks, fraud continues to rise. For regulations to be effective, whistleblowing must be integrated as an acceptable antifraud strategy.

Employees often refuse to report fraud. Latan et al. (2019) wrote that people do not report bad practices because they believe nothing will happen. Houdek (2020) identified whistleblowers are the primary source of uncovering illegal corporate activities. However, whistleblowers often fear reprisal following their act of reporting. Pohjanoksa et al. (2019) said that whistleblowing could have negative consequences for the whistleblower, often in bullying or retribution. Employees will break their silence only if the organization's code of ethics protects them.

Whistleblowing policies must include protection for whistleblowers. An internal whistleblower can observe violations such as corruption, or other unethical behavior, while an external whistleblower can observe non-compliance (Latan et al., 2019). Fraudsters view whistleblowers as colleagues they cannot trust. Consequently, criminal revenge prevents whistleblowers from exposing the evidence of a crime (Wang et al., 2018). Undoubtedly, whistleblower protection is central to the success of reporting and preventing fraud.

Whistleblowing activities require support to prevent fraud effectively. Bazart et al. (2020) identified that whistleblowing-based audit schemes might be a valuable source

of information. Organizations' leaders can provide critical support by recognizing whistleblowing as a dynamic process involving wrongdoers and whistleblowers who observe the act (Nwoke, 2019). Where necessary, leaders should formalize the whistleblowing data collection process. As a critical organizational surveillance mechanism, Whistleblowing will allow leaders to prevent fraud successfully.

Summary of the Literature Review

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers used to prevent occupational fraud in their organizations. The initial section of the literature covered the fraud diamond conceptual theory, its appropriateness in understanding fraud, and its evolution. The secondary focus of the literature review was on understanding the root causes of fraud and identifying the strategies that financial sector business managers can use to prevent fraud. In understanding the root causes of fraud, and the preventative solutions, financial sector business managers, will be able to implement these strategies to reduce economic losses.

Transition

Researchers have discussed the worldwide state of fraud and the annual losses organizations experience from occupational fraud. Section 1 included the problem statement, the purpose statement, and the nature of the study. I identified the fraud diamond model as the conceptual theory for the research and discussed its evolution. I concluded section 1 with a discussion of the assumptions, limitations, delimitation, significance of the study, and the professional and academic literature review.

In section 2, I outlined details of the role of the researcher and participants, justified the methodology and design, and discussed the population, sample, and data collection instrument. The discussions in section 2 closed with an outline of the plan to ensure the highest ethical standard, protect participants throughout the study, and detailed processes I used to ensure reliability and validity. In section 3, I presented the data analysis findings. The report ended with recommendations to mitigate occupational fraud and a summary of future research opportunities.

Section 2: The Project

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers used to prevent occupational fraud in their organizations. In this section, I define my roles as a qualitative researcher and the primary data collection instrument and discuss the eligibility criteria for the sample. I outline the process of receiving informed consent from participants to facilitate data collection. The data collection and organization techniques and procedures for ensuring ethical research are also discussed. Section 2 ends with details of my techniques to ensure reliability and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers used to prevent occupational fraud in their organizations. The population consisted of managers of a financial organization in Kingston, Jamaica, who successfully developed strategies to prevent occupational fraud. The results may provide local and international financial sector business managers with insight on how to best implement antifraud strategies, which may allow them to experience greater profitability and business sustainability. Implementing these strategies may enable business leaders to create additional jobs and increase their investment in corporate social responsibility activities in their immediate communities.

Role of the Researcher

I was the primary research instrument. Clark and Vealé (2018) identified the qualitative researcher as the primary research instrument in collecting and analyzing data.

In my primary role as a researcher, I recruited participants, interviewed participants via an online Zoom platform, and analyzed data to demonstrate my understanding of the phenomenon. Raheim et al. (2016) posited that the predetermined asymmetrical roles of the researcher and participant create a power imbalance between both parties and can result in ethical issues, including researcher bias. In addition to demonstrating my understanding of the phenomenon, I built trust through a process of recording, repeating, and clarifying the participant's responses using my knowledge and experience with fraud.

I worked in the Jamaican financial industry for 6 years and gained extensive knowledge and experience. Sharing similar experiences enhances mutual understanding between interviewer and interviewee and promotes the interviewee's success. Cheng et al. (2017) identified trust-building as extremely important during communication. I built participants' trust and mutual understanding by engaging participants in simple conversations about my experience with fraud in the financial industry.

I applied ethical principles during data collection. The *Belmont Report* provides an ethical framework for researchers through three principles: (a) respect for persons, (b) beneficence, and (c) justice (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1979). I stated the requirements for participation in the informed consent form, which guided participants in making an informed decision. Using the second principle of beneficence, I notified participants of potential risks via the informed consent form. I safeguarded the data using password-secured files during and after data collection. The third principle of justice demands equal treatment and fairness

for all people. To treat persons fairly, I helped build participants' confidence and promote trust by highlighting the similarities of our cultural experiences with fraud.

My experience in the Jamaican financial industry could lead to personal bias. To mitigate bias, I engaged in the reflection process. Reflexivity is a necessary component of good research (Woods, 2019) and is an ongoing process that involves reflection to continuously change our understanding when we interview others (Barrett et al., 2020). Member checking ensures accuracy by allowing participants to confirm or deny the interpretations and accuracy of the data (Candela, 2019). I used member checking to reduce bias during data collection and the reflexivity technique of practicing emotional self-awareness by following the interview protocol and allowing respondents to elaborate where necessary.

A reliable interview protocol promotes good quality data and increases the effectiveness of systematically collecting data during the interview process. Yeong et al. (2018) highlighted a four-step interview protocol refinement framework to ensure the integrity of the data collection instrument by following the validation process. The four-step framework consists of (a) ensuring alignment between interview questions and research questions, (b) constructing an inquiry-based conversation, (c) receiving feedback on interview protocols, and (d) field testing the interview questions. I followed the first three steps of the interview protocol refinement framework to develop an interview protocol (see Appendix A) but did not conduct field testing. Following the interview protocol helped align interview questions with the primary research question to improve data quality.

A variance may exist in the interviewer's and participant's interpretations. If there is a contradiction between participant and researcher interpretations, the researcher must modify the analysis to align them with respondents' comments (Varpio et al., 2017). Because qualitative research involves theoretical understanding and abstraction of raw data, member checking can enhance validity if participants review the researcher's findings (Brear, 2019). Member checking offers novice researchers an excellent opportunity to check the quality of the data (McGrath et al., 2019). Member checking also allows research participants to expand, amend and comment on raw data (Brear, 2019). I used member checking to ensure alignment between participant and researcher interpretations to enhance validity.

Participants

In qualitative research, participants must align with the purpose of the study. Yin (2018) stated that participants must have the relevant experience and knowledge necessary to enhance data collection and analysis. Mohamed and Handley-Schachelorb (2014) used semistructured interviews to collect data from a purposive sample of four managers in a case study of financial statement fraud in Malaysian commercial companies. I initially selected a sample of four eligible managers who had worked in the organization for the past 3 years and successfully developed strategies to eliminate fraud. Zerr et al. (2018) identified 3 years as an adequate period for organizational efficient learning. I requested approval in writing from the organization and Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) to proceed with data collection before contacting participants.

Gatekeepers can limit access to potential participants. Amundsen et al. (2017) also underscored the ability of gatekeepers to help or prevent the researcher from accessing potential participants who can provide access to other individuals with critical data. I used professional relationships to gain access to participants. Once I received the names and contact information, I sent the participants an invitation email (see Appendix B) with the informed consent form. I asked participants to indicate their consent via email with the words "I consent."

Before the interviews, I built trust by sharing details of the study with participants via telephone and the informed consent form. Researchers should build trust by thoroughly explaining the process to participants (Enosh & Ben-Ari, 2016). Turaga (2019) suggested that researchers build a long-lasting, trusting relationship through effective communication. I contacted each manager via telephone and explained the purpose of the study, confidentiality procedures, and the voluntary nature of participation. I allowed participants to ask questions and shared my contact details to facilitate future inquiries during the process.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

I chose the qualitative research method from the three research methods available to researchers: quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (see Yin, 2014). Baillie (2015) suggested two core principles of quality in qualitative research: (a) transparency, the disclosure of the research process, and (b) systematicity, applying a systematic data collection and analysis process while explaining and justifying deviations. Qualitative

research aims to help researchers understand social phenomena through participants. I used a qualitative method to understand the social phenomenon of fraud.

The quantitative research methodology is descriptive or experimental. Using hypotheses, researchers use the quantitative method to establish association or causality and predict relationships between variables (Bettany-Saltikov & Whittaker, 2014). Researchers use a quantitative methodology to analyze statistical and numerical data to produce inferential statistics and generalize the data using preselected variables (Taguchi, 2018). There was no need to predict relationships between variables to test hypotheses to answer the research question. I did not choose the quantitative method because I did not use quantitative data to test hypotheses or predict relationships between variables.

Researchers may choose mixed methods to carry out their investigation. Mixed-methods research involves collecting, analyzing, and integrating qualitative and quantitative data in a single study (Hanson et al., 2005). Using the hybrid method, researchers concurrently collect quantitative and qualitative data to test hypotheses while exploring the meaning behind confirmed or disproved assumptions (Taguchi, 2018). I did not collect or analyze quantitative data, which is an integral part of the mixed-method approach. I collected nonnumeric data through interviews to gain an in-depth understanding of the study problem. I did not use the mixed method because there were no quantitative factors to manipulate.

Research Design

I chose the single-case study design because the methodology was ideal for indepth analysis of respondents' behavior through real-world perspectives. Yin (2018) suggested that the case study design is appropriate when a researcher explores a contemporary phenomenon within its real-life context. Other possible designs included narrative and phenomenological. Narrative researchers collect stories from individuals about their lived and told experiences (Yin, 2018), which was not the purpose of this study. Bowen (2008) described a naturalistic inquiry as research in natural settings in which the investigator studies real-world situations as they unfold naturally, instead of manipulating research outcomes a priori.

I did not use a phenomenological design. Researchers use phenomenological research to gain insight into individuals' lived experiences to develop a worldview (O'Neil & Koekemoer, 2016). I used the single-case study design. Case study research takes place in its natural setting, and researchers collect the views of those involved (Saunders & Townsend, 2016). The objective of a single-case study is intensive research on a specific case, such as an individual, group, institute, or community (Rashid et al., 2019). I reviewed the antifraud strategies successfully implemented by business managers of one financial sector organization. I did not conduct a multiple-case study because the use of multiple cases was not necessary to achieve the study goal.

Failure to achieve data saturation can negatively impact research validity. Varpio et al. (2017) suggested that data saturation helps eliminate the overcollection of data and is a quality marker. Constantinou et al. (2017) also noted that researchers reach data saturation when no new information or participant themes emerge. I collected data until no new information appeared and there was enough information to replicate the study.

Qualitative researchers often use saturation as the basis for ceasing data

collection. Constantinou et al. (2017) identified data saturation as the signal for qualitative researchers to stop collecting baseline data. Multiple data sources increase credibility (Azungah, 2018), and asking participants the same questions will eventually result in data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). I ensured data saturation by collecting data until I observed repetition and no new themes emerged.

Ethical Research

One of the critical responsibilities of researchers is to maintain high ethical standards. Researchers must protect participants and ensure the integrity of the research by receiving each participant's informed consent and voluntary participation (Josephson & Smale, 2020). I emailed the informed consent form to each participant and requested confirmation of their participation via email, indicating "I consent." Ethical conduct of research involved receiving approval from the Walden University IRB, receiving informed consent from participants, and protecting participants' data and privacy. Participants who did not wish to participate could reply stating "I do not consent" or select that option on the informed consent form.

I applied all principles of the *Belmont Report* to ensure respect, protection, and justice by receiving each consent form and using an interview protocol. Biros (2018) stated that researchers should secure ethical rights for potential participants through their authorization or refusal to engage in research. Researchers should respect individuals' rights to participate or decline. The informed consent form provided participants with information on the study, the procedures, the risks and benefits of participating in the study, and the voluntary nature of the study. There were no incentives for participating in

this study. Before or during the interview, the participant could use email, telephone, or another medium to submit a request to discontinue the interview. I respected the participant's right to withdraw by acknowledging receipt of the request via email and removed the participant from the study. If a participant declined to continue, that participant could withdraw voluntarily, without any penalties or other consequences. I destroyed all transcripts and thanked the participants.

Researchers must apply the second principle of beneficence by protecting a participant's identity while clearly stating the risks involved. Beneficence helps participants perform a risk-benefit analysis before consenting to participate in a study (Friesen et al., 2017). After risk assessment, participants may choose to participate or withdraw. Beneficence means that the researcher has an ethical obligation to the well-being of participants (Adashi et al., 2018). I advised participants of the details of the study, risks, and confidentiality commitments so that my actions served their best interest.

I eliminated bias by using bracketing and member checking. Tufford and Newman (2012) suggested that researchers use bracketing to eliminate preconceptions about the research and research topic. I used a reflexive journal during bracketing to document and stay aware of prejudices during the study. Fusch et al. (2017) highlighted researchers' use of reflexive journals to gather data and reflect in a short time during a case study. Candela (2019) posited that member checking helps accurately portray participants' voices by allowing participants to confirm or deny the interpretations and

accuracy of the data. I used bracketing and member checking to eliminate bias and enhance trustworthiness throughout the study.

I conducted interviews in a financial organization that I designated the code FO1. I protected the identity of participants by using letter codes such as R0104-012022 for departments, the participant's numerical order, and the interview date. Yin (2018) identified a pseudonym code as an effective method of concealing the identity and protecting participants' confidentiality. Aguila et al. (2016) stated that researchers should provide complete information to participants about the research and protect personal information they may disclose while granting informed consent. The informed consent form included background information on the research topic, procedures, the voluntary nature of the study, the risk and benefits of participating, privacy, questions, and a consent statement, including consent for the researcher to record the interview. To maintain transparency and protect participants' rights, I suggested that each participant retain a copy of the informed consent form.

The ethical protection of participants is important in qualitative research. I secured the data on the informed consent form and the Walden University IRB approval document on my personal computer with passwords and only shared the information with authorized individuals. I also retained secure backup data at an off-site data storage facility and did not share the data with unauthorized individuals. Othman and Hamid (2018) identified the close link between confidentiality and informed consent and underscored the importance of assuring participants that the researcher will maintain trust. Walden University specifies a 5-year period after which the researcher should

destroy all data. I will retain the data for 5 years, after which I will destroy the data. The Walden IRB approval number is 05-23-22-0201134 and expires on May 22, 2023.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the primary instrument for the study. Yin (2018) identified the researcher as the primary source for collecting qualitative data. I collected the data by conducting semistructured interviews, writing notes in my field journal, and physically reviewing company documents. Aarikka-Stenroos et al. (2017) suggested that using numerous sources of evidence is essential during data collection. I used company documents such as the organization's annual report, training and development manuals, policy and procedure manuals, and financial performance reports. These sources helped establish credibility.

I began one-to-one interviews with seven questions using the interview protocol (see Appendix A) and asked follow-up questions where necessary. Semistructured interviews provide a flexible method of obtaining rich data for analysis (Peesker et al., 2019). In addition, researchers use semistructured interviews to explore participants' attitudes and perspectives about the phenomena (Stuart et al., 2018). I engaged participants in detailed discussions and asked follow-up questions to clarify initial responses. I audio-recorded the interviews and made notes to collect accurate and complete information.

I used the interview protocol to guide the interview process. Castillo-Montoya (2016) suggested that a detailed initial interview protocol allows researchers to receive meaningful data reflective of participants' rich experiences. I accurately followed the

steps in each phase of the interview protocol and asked participants the same questions. A researcher reaches data saturation when no new codes or patterns emerge (van Rijnsoever, 2017). I collected data until I achieved data saturation.

During interviews, I collected journal notes. Rhodes and Brook (2021) asserted that journal writing allows researchers to consider ideas and questions that emerge during discussions and establish linkages. I logged notes and daily activities in a reflective journal. Journals entries will enable a researcher to synthesize real-time recording, participants' immediate reactions, and other responses while creating an opportunity for reflection (Anderson, 2012). I used journal notes to assist during member checking.

I collected and analyzed data from relevant company documents. In a case study, researchers can collect data through document analysis (Alam, 2021). Analyzing documents assists in triangulating the interview data and combines with strategies like member checking (Yeong et al., 2018). I examined the organization's annual report, strategic plan, training and development manuals, policy and procedure manuals, and financial performance reports.

Data Collection Technique

After receiving approval from Walden University and the participating organization, I used the selection criteria to identify participants from my list and invited them via email. I asked each participant to complete and sign the informed consent form or indicate their consent via email. Once I received the participants' consent, I coordinated the dates and times for interviews via Zoom. Researchers who digitally record interviews can benefit from reflexive observation (Correia et al., 2020). I digitally

recorded each interview.

I followed the steps listed in the interview protocol to guide my interview. DeJonckheere and Vaughn (2019) suggested that researchers use semistructured interviews to obtain relevant information from key informants. Before conducting the interviews, I introduced myself, discussed the participants' informed consent forms, and sought permission to audio-record the interview. I explained the member checking process and scheduled a follow-up appointment for member checking. I allowed each participant time to respond to each question and probed where necessary. Upon completion, I thanked each participant and advised them that I would contact them further for clarifications.

To address my research question, I used the following abridged interview protocol:

- After receiving IRB consent and site authorization, I contacted the individual identified in the letter of co-operation for the names of potential participants. I selected a small sample of four participants and sought their consent to participate. I sent the informed consent form to each participant.
- 2. Once I received consent, I scheduled online interviews with each participant to explain the purpose, clarify issues on the consent form, and allowed each participant to review the interview questions and provide responses.
- 3. I explained the interview process and the right to withdraw from the study and sought permission to record the interview.

- 4. I used the interview protocol (Appendix A) as a guide to conduct the interview and probe for in-depth details.
- 5. I recorded participants' data, interview schedule, details, and reflections in a field journal.
- 6. Following each interview, I transcribed the data from digital recordings and stored the data securely.
- I interpreted responses, incorporated journal notes, and prepared the interpretations of each interview.
- 8. I scheduled member-checking sessions, discussed the interpretations with participants, and revised as necessary.
- 9. Upon completion, I uploaded data to the NVivo software for data analysis and storage.

Semistructured interviews and secondary data sources have advantages and disadvantages in qualitative research. Semistructured interview questions include a few predetermined questions and allow the interviewer to explore issues initially raised by the interviewee (McGrath et al., 2019). Semistructured interviews enable the researcher to collect rich data from participants about their experiences. Peesker et al. (2019) also highlighted that using semistructured interviews can assist researchers in better understanding phenomena through participants' viewpoints. I used the interview protocol (Appendix A) to explore and produce rich details.

Another advantage of interviews is combining interview data with data from other sources. Researchers often merge interviews with other data collection forms to provide a

well-rounded collection of information (Turner, 2010). The advantage of comparing sources is that researchers better understand the problem when comparing and contrasting company documents (Bikas et al., 2016). I compared interview data with journal notes and company documents for methodological triangulation. There are a few disadvantages to using interviews to collect data. Clark and Vealé (2018) identified researcher bias as a primary risk when collecting data. Researchers may risk misinterpreting participants' responses. I repeated responses to verify that my interpretation of the participants' responses was correct.

I used member checking to improve the reliability and validity of my research. Member checking ensures accuracy by allowing participants to review the researcher's data interpretation (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Member checking enhances the trustworthiness of the data interpretations. McGrath et al. (2019) posited that member checking is critical for participants to establish reliability. I developed a strong rapport with participants during the interview and asked probing and follow-up questions after the discussion. I transcribed the data and emailed my interpretation of responses to participants, allowing participants to review and verify the accuracy.

Data Organization Technique

I used the NVivo software to organize the data by themes before analysis. The NVivo software is helpful in coding, accessing text, displaying the completed codes, and presenting the results in tables and graphs (Oliveira et al., 2016). I assigned codes P1, P2, P3, and P4 to each member, checked interview data and company documents received the codes D01, D02 onwards. I stored interview data, company documents, and journal

recordings in hard copy and electronically in separate file directories secured with passwords. After 5 years, I will delete all electronic files and destroy the physical data files.

Data Analysis

I performed analyses to identify themes in the data using a six-step thematic analysis process. Data analysis is a tool for collecting, filtering, and organizing data to establish conclusions (Popenoe et al., 2021). Braun and Clarke (2006) described the thematic analysis as a theoretically flexible method that researchers use to organize, describe, and interpret qualitative data. Analyzing themes involves identifying issues relevant to the research question, context, and theoretical framework (Roberts et al., 2019). I presented emerging themes, explored the linkages, and interpreted the meanings.

Qualitative researchers often analyze themes during data analysis. I used a sixstep analytical process established by Braun and Clarke (2006) to analyze the data by identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns or themes. Using thematic analysis, I analyzed as follows:

- I reviewed the data during the process of transcribing data. Belotto (2018) found
 that researchers could familiarize themselves with content by immersing
 themselves in the data through continually reading transcripts. I repeatedly read
 the script to identify recurring patterns, develop codes, and deeply understand the
 phenomenon.
- 2. In the second phase, I developed codes. Braun and Clarke (2006) indicated that the coding process allows interpreting large text segments and portions of

information in new ways. Crowe et al. (2015) described the coding process as identifying descriptive terms for the relevant areas observed in the transcripts. The computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software NVivo supports code-based inquiry, searching, and theorizing (Dalkin et al., 2021). I used NVivo to organize the data efficiently and identify emerging themes and codes.

- 3. I searched for themes in the third phase. Braun and Clarke (2006) stated that researchers must search across the data to find repeated meanings. Patterns serve as the basis for themes and explain interrelationships that the analyst summarizes to develop thematic statements (Lochmiller, 2021). I identified patterns from the codes and created categories to identify primary themes and sub-themes.
- 4. In the fourth phase of thematic analysis, I reviewed the primary and subthemes I developed in the third phase. Crowe et al. (2015) suggested that researchers write and re-write themes to examine relationships. Braun and Clarke (2006) stated that researchers must identify the importance of each theme by determining what it captures about the overall research question. I concluded this phase by refining and regrouping themes and sub-themes.
- 5. In the fifth analysis phase, I defined and named the themes I identified during the fourth phase. Lochmiller (2021) suggested that themes help researchers identify new data to explore. After generating codes, the researcher must group related codes, then define and name themes (Crowe et al., 2015). Braun and Clarke (2006) explained this phase as an ongoing analysis to define and refine each theme's specifics, identify each theme's essence, and determine what aspect of the

- data each theme captures. I reviewed each theme and sub-theme in detail to identify its relevance to the research question.
- 6. In the final phase, I produced the report. Braun and Clarke (2006) stated that the researcher should present the thematic analysis as a concise, coherent, logical, nonrepetitive story within and across themes in this phase. Crowe et al. (2015) described this process as a synthesis in which the researcher creates an analytical argument concerning the research question in the context of the existing literature. After completing the thematic analysis, I presented the findings comprehensively.

Reliability and Validity

Qualitative researchers must incorporate strategies to ensure reliability and validity. Connelly (2016) indicated that it is essential to establish credibility, transferability, and confirmability in qualitative research. Credibility, transferability, and confirmability represent validity measures (Ali & Yusof, 2011). Maher et al. (2018) identified trustworthiness as an appropriate criterion for evaluating qualitative studies, while Marshall and Rossman (2016) posited that using multiple data sources could add credibility to the research. Mohajan (2017) suggested that qualitative researchers could strengthen reliability and validity by using various methods to produce accurate information. A researcher can use triangulation to substantiate findings by gathering data from different sources (Yin, 2018). I used methodological triangulation and member checking to increase the reliability and validity of the results.

Reliability

Reliability refers to the quality and consistency of measures during qualitative

research and is one of the primary quality criteria. Noble and Smith (2015) defined reliability as consistency within the analytical procedures used by the researcher. A researcher can use an interview protocol to ensure consistency while collecting information via interviews (Yeong et al., 2018). Additionally, the researcher must establish dependability by describing the changes in the research setting and how these changes will affect the researcher's approach to the study (Trochim, 2021). Baillie (2015) recommended that researchers ensure dependability by maintaining an audit trail of decision-making throughout the research process. I used an audit trail to demonstrate that I conducted the research.

Reflexivity is essential to the quality and rigor of research. Woods (2019) defined reflexivity as the critical scrutiny of the research process. Additionally, Baillie (2015) described reflexivity as the process of self-reflecting to ensure dependability. I engaged in reflexivity to identify how I influenced the research and reduced personal bias by recording detailed journal notes of thoughts, beliefs, and observations during the research process. Bracketing is a technique that can also improve reliability in qualitative research. Researchers can use bracketing to clarify issues relating to the research phenomenon (Tufford & Newman, 2012). To achieve dependability, I used bracketing to identify potential influencing factors and provide detailed journal notes of thoughts, beliefs, and observations during the research process.

Validity

In qualitative studies, the researcher must ensure the validity and credibility of the findings. Jordan (2018) posited that validity ensures that the research data accurately

reflects the phenomenon. Validity reflects how accurate inferences are. Xerri (2018) identified credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability as primary trustworthiness criteria. I utilized these criteria to ensure validity by adding rigor to the research process and drawing appropriate inferences from the results.

Credibility

Researchers can establish credibility through member checking and triangulation. Moon (2019) identified that triangulation helps establish credibility in qualitative research through multiple data sources. In establishing credibility, researchers can use triangulation to substantiate findings by gathering data from different sources (Morse, 2015; Yin, 2018). Ensuring credibility involves establishing that the results from participants' perspectives are believable (Trochim, 2021) and are achievable through prolonged engagement, persistent observation, triangulation, and member checking (Morse, 2015). I used member checking and triangulation to ensure credibility.

In qualitative research, member checking increases trustworthiness (Carlson, 2010). During member checking, research participants receive the opportunity to check the accuracy of the researcher's interpretation and expand, amend, or comment on the results (Brear, 2019). A thick and rich description of settings, participants, data collection, and analysis increases the credibility of the results (Carlson, 2010). I used thick and rich descriptions, methodological triangulation, and member checking to establish credibility within the findings.

Transferability

Researchers often refer to transferability as external validity and generalization

and are usually interested in transferring their findings to another context. Morse (2015) defined transferability as the ability to apply the actual results of one study to another. Marshall and Rossman (2016) identified methodological triangulation as one method to enhance transferability. The member checking process enhances transferability by adding richly descriptive data (Brear, 2019). I presented detailed descriptions of the phenomenon, participants, research process, and analysis to provide rich data for leaders to determine transferability. I used methodological triangulation to ensure data saturation and closely followed the interview protocol to ensure that I could transfer the findings of this study to another context.

Confirmability

Qualitative researchers must ensure that other researchers can confirm or support the results of a study. Korstjens and Moser (2018) defined confirmability as the process of reflecting participants' views on the findings without the researcher's personal bias. Probing during interviews, follow-up member checking interviews, questioning from different perspectives, and triangulation are techniques that researchers can use to enhance confirmability. Researchers can establish confirmability by presenting a detailed account of the process to create what Marshall and Rossman (2016) described as an audit trail. I recorded the details of each stage of my research, my decisions, and my thoughts. I used triangulation, member checking, and reflexivity to ensure confirmability.

Data Saturation

Researchers can achieve high data quality through data saturation. Researchers generally accept data saturation as qualitative rigor and quality (Varpio et al., 2017). I

collected and continuously reviewed data to ensure data saturation. According to Saunders and Townsend (2016), data saturation is the point when the researcher begins to collect the same data repeatedly. Qualitative researchers' failure to achieve data saturation can negatively affect the study's validity. I gathered data until I identified no new data, themes, or replication to achieve data saturation.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers use to prevent occupational fraud in their organizations. In section 2, I focused on my role as the researcher and primary data collection instrument and outlined the process of identifying and selecting participants. I will comply with the IRB requirements to ensure strict ethical standards and implement member checking and reflexivity to guarantee reliability and validity. In section 3, I analyze the data using the methodological triangulation of interviews, company documents, and field journal data. I incorporated the research findings and highlighted their relevance and application to real-world situations. I demonstrate how financial sector business managers learned from the outcomes and how applying the results could contribute to social change. I also make recommendations for future research.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers used to prevent occupational fraud in their organizations. Despite significant investment in compliance and regulatory scrutiny, the financial industry continues to experience economic crime (Repousis et al., 2019). According to Inaya and Obasuyi (2020), fraud is big business because of the magnitude and degree of the importance of the dollar value involved. In 2020, global consumers lost more than U.S. \$3.3 billion to fraud (Federal Trade Commission, 2021).

Exploring how financial sector business managers eliminate occupational fraud is essential to the effective prevention of fraud losses. In this study, I collected data from four business managers at a financial organization in Kingston, Jamaica. Identification codes for the business managers were P1, P2, P3, and P4. The findings revealed that the business managers primarily used (a) internal controls, (b) auditing, and (c) human resource intervention to successfully prevent fraud. There were eight substrategies that managers applied. In Section 3, I present detailed findings and identify how business managers may apply antifraud strategies to professional practice. I also consider what social change may occur as a result. I discuss recommendations for action and further research, present my reflections, and state the study's conclusion.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question was, What effective antifraud strategies do financial sector business managers use to prevent occupational fraud? To answer the research question, I conducted semistructured interviews via Zoom with four business managers who had successfully implemented antifraud strategies. I reviewed company documentation which included (a) the risk and compliance committee charter, (b) an operations manual, (c) a dormant account activation process, (d) a human resources manual, and (e) annual reports. The managers discussed the strategies they used to prevent occupational fraud and identified the primary benefits of these strategies. I used NVivo software to organize and analyze the audio-recorded data and applied Braun and Clarke's (2006) six-step technique to analyze the data thematically. The primary themes that emerged from the data were (a) auditing, (b) internal controls, and (c) human resource intervention. From the primary themes, eight subthemes emerged.

Theme 1: Auditing

Auditing was the first theme that emerged from the data. All four participants identified auditing as a critical fraud prevention strategy. An intense fraud risk management process consists of at least five stages: determining the objectives, identifying the risks, evaluating the risks, determining preventive action, and implementing and reviewing risks (Madah Marzuki et al., 2020). Three subthemes related to auditing emerged: random audits, routine audits, and scrutiny.

Random Audits

Participants identified random audits as the primary means of preventing fraud.

Repousis et al. (2019) determined that internal and external audits contributed to efficient internal control. All participants stated that random audits were effective in preventing fraud. P1 indicated that one of the primary functions of the audit department was "random reviews at each location to review staff compliance with procedures." This function is consistent with Nawawi and Salin (2018), who stated that consistently applying internal control will result in higher operational efficiency, greater accountability in managing an organization's resources, reduced risk-taking behavior, and higher compliance with laws and regulations. Participants suggested that managers should constantly monitor to ensure compliance.

P2 expressed that the most frequent cause of fraud was a "failure to perform a simple independent check as designed in the control." P1 suggested that bankers should implement random audits, as fraudsters are always ahead. All participants stated that random independent checks were necessary. Shepherd and Button (2019) suggested that employees regularly take advantage of weak controls and management indifference. Regarding performing checks, P1 identified all indirect supervisors and managers as part of the audit process. Ugaddan and Park (2018) stated that management is primarily responsible for providing an ethical environment to avoid fraud. Managers play a critical role in fraud prevention.

In noting the role of managers in preventing fraud, P4 stated, "Although the supervisors should be doing random checks, the manager also is involved and conducts random checks periodically, doing the draw audit, random and spot checks." P2 and P3 also referred to desk audits, drawer audits, and snap checks on tellers as types of random

audits that helped to uncover fraud. In explaining the role of random checks, P1 highlighted that "You might just do a check of all the loan files for a particular staff or department and check to see that everything is there, or from a banking standpoint, it might be a cashier on whom you do a detailed cash count unexpectedly or unplanned." P4 identified the importance of auditing officers who worked on the road and suggested, "because persons do not know when they are going to be audited, random audits reduce the chance for dishonesty." P4 further added that "because there is no set standard for audit checks, persons are less hesitant to commit fraud, resulting in a lower chance of committing fraud." P4 noted that while strategies may not prevent fraud completely, "the element of surprise, that is, not knowing when they will be audited, keeps persons in line."

Routine Audits

All four participants identified routine audits as another important antifraud strategy. P1 described routine audits as "more scrutiny of transactions that seem out of the norm, especially on dormant accounts" and stated, "There must be closer scrutiny because dormant accounts are a window for fraud." P2 believed that continuous monitoring was critical because "continuous monitoring is what will assist any organization in reducing overall exposure to occupational fraud." P2 highlighted the importance of technology in performing routine audits on transactions." P2 also stated, "Technology has the capability to do real-time continuous monitoring. Based on what it is configured to check for, it will produce exceptions. If the exceptions are not handled by the person, they escalate to the CEO." P1 stated, "Continuous monitoring is critical

because the system will identify exceptions and create triggers, but the manager must follow up to check and verify the transaction to identify and quickly prevent fraud." P4 introduced the importance of routinely auditing transactions on employees' accounts, with particular attention to the source of funds and size of transactions, as this could provide evidence of employee involvement in the fraud.

Scrutiny

Participants highlighted the importance of scrutiny in preventing occupational fraud. P1 emphasized the importance of scrutiny in identifying anomalies while reviewing and verifying customers' documents. P1 stated, "One of the most effective strategies was verifying and using an independent source of contact for verification." P4 revealed, "The audit system produced end-of-day reports on transactions, which can identify unusual or suspicious transactions." P4 highlighted the importance of scrutiny, stating, "While there is tier overrides for approval of certain levels of dollar figures or transactions, employees who are friends or share a close relationship can share passwords resulting in fraud." P1 summarized by stating, "Everything you can think of today, the fraudsters have thought of that yesterday; so, as bankers, we have to be one step ahead of the fraudsters; put controls in place - snap checks and scrutiny of transactions." Although participants spoke of scrutiny, there was no mention of reporting observed anomalies through whistleblowing. Whistleblowing allows employees to receive, review, and investigate complaints of suspected fraud, violations of law, and ethics (Yusuf, 2019). Organizations should implement hotlines to facilitate the reporting of fraud.

Theme 2: Internal Controls

The second theme that emerged was internal controls. Three subthemes emerged: policy and procedure, checks and balances, and technological intervention. Each participant shared interpretations of the role of internal controls in preventing occupational fraud.

Policies and Procedures

Participants twinned policies and procedures as a subtheme. 'Policies and procedures' was the subtheme that participants spoke of most frequently. Participants primarily referred to policy and procedure awareness and adherence to policies. P2 highlighted that clearly defined operations and fraud handling policies guided how leaders handle fraud occurrences and communicate information to staff. P1 also identified that there were established procedures for communicating with a customer whose transaction was fraudulent. P1 and P4 recognized the importance of following policies and procedures. P3 stated, "Policies offer a guide to employees in terms of what they should or should not do, but the policies themselves will not prevent fraud if committing the fraud is the employee's intention."

P4 referred to cash handling policies that guided cash handling where accounts remained unopened for over 3 days. P4 also identified human resource policies that guide employee operations, such as background checks on new employees. P2 stated that the organization's leaders circulated the organization's fraud risk management policies to staff annually and that staff could access the policy via the intranet. P4 added that external policies and procedures were equally important and that the organization and its

employees kept abreast of new international financial regulatory policies. Regulatory policies included the Bank of Jamaica's regulatory changes, such as limitations on cash transactions. P2 underscored the fraud risk management policy's critical role by stating, "The biggest fraud prevention strategy is through the use of the fraud risk management policy."

In supporting the use of the fraud risk management policy, P2 highlighted that "if any staff steps out of line, everyone is made aware of what happens; there is a 'no-nonsense' approach, and everyone knows that this incident occurred and how the matter was dealt with; the matter is investigated and handed over to the fraud squad, and the necessary arrests are made." P4 underscored the effectiveness of the policy, stating that "the more stringent use and application of policies as a guideline have contributed to the lessening of fraud." Although participants understood the importance of the policy, P2 suggested that "what is needed is continuous enforcement although it is time-consuming and overbearing at times." P3 and P4 stated that policies act as a guide to employees in terms of what they should or should not do. They noted that the policies by themselves will not prevent fraud if committing the fraud is the employee's intention.

Checks and Balances

Implementing checks and balances in anticipation of emerging fraud techniques is important. Burke and Sanney (2018) stated that opportunities arise if authorized individuals work unmonitored, receive too much responsibility, or have no separation of duties or checks and balances. P1 acknowledged that "whatever you have thought of, the fraudsters have already thought about it and are implementing it already, so you must

stay ahead of them and ahead of the game to beat them." P1 added that changes such as strict requirements for signatories might not be popular with the branch [operations] but must be implemented. P1 identified using third-party sources such as the credit bureau as an effective check and balance activity in the loan application process. P1 explained, "Relying more on the credit bureau than banking statements is effective because we are pulling the credit bureau report from a safe source because all banks dump their information in the credit bureau, and we are pulling that information."

P2 also identified checks and balances as critical, noting that employees should handle cash under dual custody. P2 explained that "there are checks and balances that must be done when you are doing disbursements, and some things are to be recorded so that for audit purposes or any other investigations, you can know how the cash was handled and dealt with." P1 identified the centralization of some processes as an essential antifraud strategy, noting that the number of fraudulent loans reduced after centralization. Yang et al. (2021) underscored the need for loan risk control, identifying that loan risk control aims at detecting fraudulent loan applications and safeguarding individuals' and organizations' properties. P3 supported the loan approval centralization strategy, stating that the segregation of duties was effective because "the implementation of an external loan processing has resulted in a considerable minimization of fraud incidents in branches as a result of loans being processed elsewhere."

Participants identified segregation of duties as an important check and balance activity that prevents fraud. Segregation of duties helps prevent employee fraud by reducing the possibility of collusion wherever there are conflicts of interest (Kim et al.,

2020). P1 identified that "when two independent persons look at the transactions, there is double-checking for fraud control because collusion is likely within a small approval pool." Maulidi and Ansell (2021) identified the risk of fraud through collusion, stating that individuals working alone or in groups can perpetrate fraud. P2 explained, "You can't have custody of the asset and also be responsible for recording the transactions as it is, so we always try to segregate the duties." P1 identified that there should be dual control in accessing a vault, and P2 and P3 also underscored the need for dual control during transactions. P2 recognized the importance of splitting the approval process between employees and departments. Regarding checks and balances, P4 explained, "In terms of operations, supervisors and managers have tightened 'loose ends' resulting in reduced fraud." An organization where employees violate the segregation of duties enables fraudsters to perpetuate and cover fraud (Fish et al., 2021). P2 added, "If there is a check that an approval is done outside a functionality or outside of the established threshold, then it should send off a red flag."

The final check and balance strategy was observation. P1 stated, "If we get a bank statement, the font is usually set. So, if you get a bank statement and the font is off, the size of the lettering is off, or the logo doesn't look quite right, you know something is not right. Those are little things that we do in successfully identifying fraud; we do the verification from the employer and the bank." P1 added that the manual nature of the verification process creates the likelihood for fraud to occur when managers and supervisors perform manual checks.

Technological Intervention

Two participants identified technology as a critical element in successfully identifying fraud. P3 focused on the importance of technology in eliminating manual reviews and facilitating surveillance of transactions by reviewing user access and cash-based interactions between employees and customers. P3 explained that there was software that could monitor employee transactional activity. Lima and Delen (2020) suggested that using artificial intelligence and machine learning techniques aids in detecting and understanding governmental fraud and international corruption. Regarding detective control via technology, P2 stated, "We have some capabilities which need to be enhanced for real-time monitoring; there is software available to monitor real-time, but we are not there yet, so monitoring is done manually." Using technology to identify fraud eliminates manual reviews and increases the chances of early detection and elimination.

P1 explained, "The verification process is somewhat manual, so technology hasn't really played a strong role in the process." P1 added, "As technology improves, the fraudsters' use of technology also improves, "highlighting the importance of implementing controls to stay ahead of fraudsters. Participants also identified the need to replace manual checks with technology. Li (2022) stated that artificial intelligence technology enables machines to perform tasks that previously required manual operation, allowing decision-makers more time for business strategy. P2 and P3 expressed the importance of replacing manual reviews with technology that identified and eliminated the capability to commit fraud.

P2 and P3 noted technology's critical role in enhancing fraud detection and prevention. This recognition of technology as a fraud prevention method is consistent

with Lima and Delen (2020). They underscored the importance of using artificial intelligence and machine learning techniques aids to detect and understand fraud and corruption opportunities. P1 and P2 addressed the need for continuous monitoring and highlighted the role of managers in verifying transactions to identify and prevent fraud quickly. P1 and P4 identified training as a critical fraud-prevention strategy. Participants' responses aligned with the findings of Peltier-Rivest and Lanoue (2015), who recognized in their fraud study that hotlines, surprise audits, and ethics training for employees and managers reduced fraud losses when used independently.

P3 suggested that implementing technology to monitor fraud will allow auditors more time to focus on other aspects of their jobs besides fraud monitoring. P2 identified the need for technology, indicating, "We have some capabilities which need to be enhanced for real-time monitoring." Drabiak and Wolfson (2020) stated that organizations could eliminate destructive behaviors by combining organizational enhancements, compliance, and risk management systems that use data analytics to identify and flag fraud and abuse. P2 identified that "There are definitely internal controls built into the software. For example, clearly defined user access matrix within the software so that there are certain functionalities in the system that you will not be able to do." In support, P2 provided the following example: "If you are a teller and there is a loan to be processed, approved, and disbursed, you will not be able to do all that because you will not have access to that area of the screen because there are certain controls in place." Nawawi and Salin (2018) identified that controls such as surprise audits, regular review of internal controls, and mandatory job rotation combine effectively to prevent

fraud. The findings of this study also point towards auditing, internal controls, and human resource intervention as strategies that combine effectively to monitor capability and eliminate opportunities to commit fraud.

Theme 3: Human Resource Intervention

Human resource strategies can offer a buffer against occupational fraud.

Strategies include recruitment, ethical leadership, ethical culture, and employee training.

Two primary themes emerged: training and employee monitoring.

Training

Participants identified training as an effective method to prevent fraud. Peltier-Rivest and Lanoue (2015) determined that ethics training for employees and managers reduced fraud losses when used independently. P4 explained, "All employees must sign a declaration to say that they have read and understood the fraud risk policy because it has far-reaching implications for the particular policy." P2 underscored the importance of employees being aware of policies and procedures through various mediums, including formal training.

P4 explained that all new employees must participate in "Mandatory training for 6-8 weeks in operations and complete the Proceeds of Crime Act training as a requirement before they start working." Additionally, existing employees must complete Proceeds of Crime Act training every 6 months. P4 indicated that "Training is completed for every employee registered online every 6 months and tested for compliance; HR monitors the results of each module." Compliance training plays a critical role in fraud prevention. P1 highlighted that the centralization of approvals brought employees closer,

facilitating training through sharing details of fraud cases. To support the importance of training, P3 added, "Training of employees resulted in increased awareness and improved their skills in identifying fraudulent information and activities."

P1 highlighted the importance of case-based training in which trainers compared fraudulent cases with compliant cases. P1 explained that as a preventative method also, "Once we recognized that the loan was fraudulent, we didn't tell the customer that the loan was declined because the documents are fraudulent; we just tell them that we have assessed the loan and based on the organization's position this is not a risk we are willing to take on now."

Employee Monitoring

The human resources team plays its part in preventing fraudulent transactions through training. An organization with an honest atmosphere will experience few counterproductive behaviors (Emami et al., 2018). P4 shared that the human resources department monitored employees' lifestyle changes, providing clues to employee involvement in fraud. P3 referred to lifestyle changes as an indicator of possible fraud. P3 explained, "A junior employee purchasing a high-end vehicle would raise a flag for investigation." P4 said that knowing an employee's lifestyle is critical to fraud prevention. Gottschalk (2017) identified that illegal activity could represent a convenient solution that an individual or the organization otherwise finds challenging to solve when facing strain, greed, or other situations. In support, P4 stated, "Knowing employee background and lifestyle helps place them in specific occupations; matching their lifestyle to income is important in assessing their lifestyle and can provide clues to

irregular activity, allowing for further investigation into possibilities of fraud. To prevent fraud, it is important to determine how employees with limited income support their lifestyle so that any unusual change will raise an alert".

Employee rotation is an essential human resource fraud prevention strategy. P4 explained, "To avoid the possibility of collusion and eliminate fraud, team members are often rotated to alternative locations, which results in avoiding fraud through collusion." Knowing the employees that you hire is also critical in preventing fraud. P3 added, "As a manager, I hire internally first to get a feel of persons that we know in other departments, especially regarding work ethics." P2 explained the importance of monitoring employee activity: "Your system must be configured to send out exception reports for continuous checks to be done. Therefore, continuous monitoring will assist any organization in reducing overall exposure to occupational fraud".

Relevance of the Findings to the Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was the fraud diamond theory. I used the fraud diamond theory to understand the root causes of occupational fraud. Some proponents of the fraud diamond theory have argued that for fraud to exist, four mandatory conditions must exist collectively: (a) incentive, usually in the form of financial pressure; (b) opportunity; (c) rationalization; and (d) capability (Yendrawati et al., 2019).

Theme 1: Auditing

In the fraud diamond theory, opportunity must exist alongside all other elements for fraud to exist. Participants' use of random and routine audits to identify breaches

resulting from abnormal capability aligned with the fraud diamond theory. Nawawi and Salin, (2018) identified that controls such as surprise audits combined effectively with other antifraud strategies to prevent fraud. P1 stated that continuous monitoring was critical because the system could identify exceptions and create triggers. Peltier-Rivest and Lanoue (2015) identified that surprise audits reduced fraud losses when used independently. P1 and P2 stated that continuous monitoring reduced overall exposure to occupational fraud. Monitoring abnormal transactions is necessary to eliminate the fraud diamond's element of opportunity.

Theme 2: Internal Controls

Collusion between employees increases their ability to commit fraud. In the fraud diamond theory, capability is the fourth mandatory condition for fraud. Participants stated the importance of segregation of duties as one method of preventing employees with specific access levels from conspiring to commit fraud. Abdullahi and Mansor (2015) emphasized that fraud perpetrators must have the skills and abilities to commit fraud. P2 identified that the organization should use technology to eliminate opportunities to commit fraud by identifying irregular activities. Suh et al. (2019) identified management override and collusion as two of the most severe risks to counter fraud. The segregation of duties is critical in eliminating the opportunity for unauthorized approvals that collusion can facilitate.

All respondents highlighted the importance of checks and balances in reducing the capability to commit fraud acts. Checks and balances effectively mitigate the advantages that capability presents in facilitating fraud. Burke and Sanney (2018)

identified that opportunities also arise if authorized individuals work unmonitored, receive too much responsibility, or have no separation of duties or checks and balances. P1 identified that "when two independent persons look at the transactions, there is double-checking for fraud control because collusion is likely within a small approval pool." Internal controls used to eliminate fraud capability conditions aligned with the fraud diamond conceptual theory.

Theme 3: Human Resource Intervention

Rationalization is the third element in the fraud diamond conceptual theory. Criminals use rationalization attempts to justify their unethical behavior (Omukaga, 2021). P4 highlighted the role of the human resource department and managers in preventing fraud through regular review of employee activity. Ugaddan and Park (2018) stated that management is primarily responsible for providing an ethical environment to avoid fraud. An illegal activity could represent a convenient solution for an individual facing strain, greed, or other financial situations (Gottschalk, 2017). To prevent fraud, leaders must monitor employees to identify lifestyle changes and perform regular and routine audits and checks to eliminate rationalization and reduce fraud. P1 and P4 highlighted the importance of knowing the employee's background and lifestyle, suggesting that matching their lifestyle to income can provide clues to irregular activity and help prevent fraud. In the fraud diamond conceptual theory, financial pressure is one mandatory condition for fraud. Participants spoke of the importance of monitoring lifestyle changes that may result from financial pressure, which is the first compulsory condition of the fraud diamond theory.

The main themes in the study were auditing, internal controls, and human resource intervention, subdivided into eight secondary themes. All themes represented fraud-prevention strategies and aligned with the mandatory conditions for fraud: financial pressure, opportunity, rationalization, and capability. P1, P2, P3, and P4 identified checks and balances as a proven method to eliminate fraud opportunities. Paschoal et al. (2020) stated that the addition of capability in the fraud diamond theory meant that although perceived pressure may co-exist with opportunity and rationalization, fraud cannot occur unless the fraudster has the skills and ability to commit fraud. Participants' identification of management's role in detecting employees experiencing financial pressure and eliminating rationalization, opportunity, and fraud capability, aligned directly with the fraud diamond theory.

Relevance of the Findings to Effective Business Practice

The findings of this study revealed that when combined, antifraud strategies effectively reduce the likelihood of employee involvement in fraud activity. The results of this study were consistent with Arkorful et al. (2022), who used the fraud diamond theory to predict individual employee fraud and identify appropriate antifraud strategies. Constantly applying internal control will result in higher operational efficiency, greater accountability in managing an organization's resources, reduced risk-taking behavior, and higher compliance with laws and regulations (Nawawi & Salin, 2018). Managers play a critical role in leading the fraud-prevention process. Where there is a need to change behaviors, managers and supervisors can influence employee ethical behavior by transforming and managing the organization's ethics (Emami et al., 2018). Organizations

must implement adequate internal controls to restrict employee involvement in the fraud.

Fraud occurs daily. A well-designed and effective internal control system helps prevent and deter errors and irregularities (Akmese & Gundogan, 2020). Segregation of duties is necessary to eliminate the incentives for employee collusion to perpetrate fraud (Akmese & Gundogan, 2020). The antifraud strategies employed by leaders aligned with strategies identified in the literature and effectively combined to eliminate occupational fraud within the organization

Triangulation of Sources

I used methodological triangulation to develop deep knowledge of leaders' antifraud strategies to prevent occupational fraud in the financial sector. A researcher can use triangulation to substantiate findings by gathering data from different sources (Yin, 2018). I gathered information from the audit risk and compliance committee charter; the human resources policy; the operations manual; and the organization's 2018, 2019, and 2020 annual reports. These documents included strategies to reduce occupational fraud. I used methodological triangulation to synthesize and analyze the data, compare participants' information with documented information, and support my research question. Information from company documents supported the main themes: audits, internal control, and human resources intervention. Upon completing the interviews and reviewing all the documents, most of the data in company documents aligned with the interviewees' responses.

I reviewed the audit risk and compliance committee charter; the human resources policy; the operations manual; and the organization's 2018, 2019, and 2020 annual

reports. Participants referred to the audit risk and compliance committee charter as the fraud risk management and the fraud risk policies. Information provided by participants was consistent with the information included in the audit risk and compliance committee charter and the human resources policies. Participants' information on training, organizational restructuring, and realignment of processes were consistent with information in the human resources reports in the annual reports. However, participants' accounts of a significant reduction in bad debt after implementing the centralized fraud approval process contradicted the bad debt reduction of less than 1% from data in two annual reports. Using the organization's annual reports, policies, and procedure documents assisted in verifying the data and supported the conclusions in this study.

Applications to Professional Practice

The findings are significant to professional practice in the financial sector. The results support existing literature on strategies managers use to prevent fraud in the organization. Employees regularly take advantage of weak controls and management indifference (Shepherd & Button, 2019). Fraud controls are necessary to deter employees from committing fraud. The findings in this study provide financial sector business managers with insights into strategies they can implement to prevent occupational fraud.

Fraud detection is critical in the fraud prevention process. Businesses should implement strategies to identify and prevent fraud quickly. Loan risk control aims to detect fraudulent loan applications and safeguard individuals' and organizations' property (Yang et al., 2021). Implementing adequate antifraud controls such as segregation of duties, transaction monitoring, and employee rotation is essential. Leaders may use the

findings of this study to understand the significant role they play in developing and implementing strategies to prevent occupational fraud successfully. A well-designed and effective internal control system helps prevent and deter errors and irregularities (Akmese & Gundogan, 2020). The findings of this study provide financial sector managers with auditing, internal control, and employee monitoring strategies that can combine effectively to prevent fraud.

Implications for Social Change

The inability of managers to prevent fraud losses is a severe challenge for financial sector customers and organizations and affects the viability of economies. In 2020, global consumers lost more than U.S. \$3.3 billion to fraud (Federal Trade Commission, 2021). Individuals working alone or in groups can perpetrate fraud (Maulidi & Ansell, 2021). Organization leaders must conduct a detailed assessment and implement adequate antifraud controls to prevent financial losses from collusion. When organizations' leaders avoid fraud, they secure the stability, productivity, and service levels of the operations they are responsible for (Shepherd & Button, 2019). In addition to preventing financial losses, this study's results have positive implications for social change. The results provide local and international financial sector business managers with the opportunity to experience greater profitability and business sustainability by implementing multiple antifraud strategies. Implementing these strategies may create the opportunity for business leaders to create additional jobs and increase their investment in corporate social responsibility activities in their immediate communities.

Recommendations for Action

Business leaders who struggle to prevent occupational fraud because they cannot establish antifraud strategies successfully may value the results of this study. Business leaders may also gain valuable insights into fraud-prevention strategies that can help them respond quickly in identifying and preventing fraud. To improve fraud prevention, I recommend that financial sector business leaders develop fraud-prevention strategies that include the use of (a) whistleblowing systems; (b) computer-based audit surveillance systems, (c) checks and balances systems, (d) employee lifestyle monitoring, and, (e) ethical cultures. Based on their practices, financial business leaders should develop and share strong ethical and cultural values of honesty and integrity.

My second recommended action for financial business leaders is to use appropriate recruiting practices to attract, retain, and develop employees whose ethical values coincide with those of the organization. When recruiting employees, it is crucial to identify their lifestyle, conduct background checks, review social habits, and perform other verification before selection. This will validate their person-organization fit with an ethical organizational culture that results in a lower fraud risk to the organization.

Thirdly, I recommend that financial business leaders develop whistleblowing mechanisms to encourage fraud reporting. This involves establishing and integrating whistleblowing policies that include whistleblower protections and rewards and implementing a whistleblowing hotline. My fourth recommendation is that the organization develop a strong ethical culture that provides for more ethical core values. To shape employee behavior, core values are basic principles to adopt (Kintu & Venter,

2019). A review of the organization's core values showed one ethical value – trust. The organization should consider revising its core values to include moral values such as honesty, integrity, and accountability.

Actions such as arresting and terminating employees involved in fraud are reactive because they occur after a fraud has been committed. At the organizational level, leaders should examine and utilize the most practical combination of proactive antifraud strategies based on the nature of the business. The final recommendation is to establish fraud-related metrics as key performance indicators, allowing organizational leaders to monitor and measure fraud incidence and develop antifraud strategies continuously. I will submit this study for publication through journal websites such as ProQuest, Elsevier, and human resource journals and will share the findings with the organization leaders.

Recommendations for Further Research

The findings of this study will add to the body of knowledge on fraud and represent valuable tools for fraud prevention. Financial sector business leaders worldwide struggle to prevent occupational fraud within their organizations because of their inability to implement antifraud strategies successfully. To address this problem, I conducted a single-case study using a small sample of managers to identify effective antifraud strategies financial sector business leaders used to reduce fraudulent activity.

I utilized a small sample size, limiting my ability to generalize the findings.

Additionally, I gathered data from one organization. Future researchers may conduct multiple-case studies and use a larger sample to compare the fraud experiences of business leaders. Analyzing multiple cases is akin to running numerous experiments

(Halkias & Neubert, 2020). A multiple-case study approach would allow researchers to compare business leaders' experiences among different organizations and assess their effectiveness in successfully reducing fraud. I conducted this study in Jamaica. Future researchers could expand the research to focus on strategies used by business leaders in other countries. Finally, while ethical leadership, ethical corporate culture, and whistleblowing were essential antifraud strategies in the literature, participants did not identify these elements as effective strategies they used in the organization. Scholars may conduct and publish further research to determine the effectiveness of these three antifraud strategies in successfully detecting, reporting, and preventing occupational fraud within financial sector organizations.

Reflections

During this doctoral journey, I experienced multiple challenges. I learned that overcoming the process's challenges required personal sacrifice, commitment, and strict focus on the goal of completion. During this journey, I experienced tragedy in my family. I lost my mentor and two close friends. Through these challenges, I leaned on God for the divine support I needed to complete this journey.

My previous experience as a quantitative researcher and a member of the financial sector helped. However, I was not fully prepared for the rigors of qualitative research, academic writing, gaps in supervision, and the financial losses I experienced for not understanding all of Walden's processes. As a result, I lost critical time and incurred costs because of the failures I experienced in the process. With prayers answered, I made

tremendous progress under my current chair, committee members, and supportive peers, to whom I am eternally grateful.

Professionally, I have grown through this process. My knowledge of qualitative research techniques has expanded significantly. Importantly I learned to monitor, manage, and eliminate personal biases throughout the interview process. The improvement I made in my interviewing, analytical, and communication skills are evident in the outcomes. I am confident that my doctoral journey has prepared and qualified me for the career change I have dreamed of.

Conclusion

No single antifraud strategy is sufficient to prevent occupational fraud within organizations. The findings were consistent with the literature indicating that managers using multiple antifraud strategies successfully contain occupational fraud. Nawawi and Salin (2018) stated that controls such as surprise audits, regular review of internal controls, risk management, mandatory job rotation, and rewards to whistleblowers combine effectively to prevent fraud. Bazart et al. (2020) also identified that whistleblowing-based audit schemes might be a valuable source of information. To realize the benefits of successful antifraud initiatives, financial sector business leaders must implement auditing processes, internal controls, and human resource interventions that deter employee involvement in the fraud.

Leaders must develop and implement strategies that detect and prevent fraud while building a culture of compliance. The purpose of this qualitative single-case study was to explore the strategies that financial sector business managers used to prevent

occupational fraud in their organizations. The findings indicated that financial sector businesses whose managers want to eliminate occupational fraud should implement (a) a strict regime of random audits, routine audits, and scrutiny; (b) strict monitoring of policy adherence; (c) technology to improve monitoring efficiency; (d) employee lifestyle monitoring; (e) frequent staff rotation to avoid collusion; and (f) regular training to improve employee knowledge and awareness of policies and procedures. To improve profitability, financial business leaders should develop antifraud strategies that create an ethical culture and support whistleblowing. These strategies will increase honesty, foster greater compliance with the organization's rules and regulations, and improve long-term business sustainability.

References

- Aarikka-Stenroos, L., Jaakkola, E., Harrison, D., & Mäkitalo-Keinonen, T. (2017). How to manage innovation processes in extensive networks: A longitudinal study.

 Industrial Marketing Management, 67(11), 88–105.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2017.09.014
- Abdullahi, R., & Mansor, N. (2015). Fraud triangle theory and fraud diamond theory:

 Understanding the convergent and divergent for future research. *International Journal of Academic Research in Accounting, Finance and Management Sciences*, 5(4), 38-45. https://doi.org/10.6007/IJARAFMS/v5-i4/1823
- Adashi, E. Y., Walters, L. B., & Menikoff, J. A. (2018). The *Belmont Report* at 40:

 Reckoning with time. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(10), 1345-1348.

 https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304580
- Adewumi, S. A., & Ogunnubi, O. (2019). Assessing the patterns and challenges of employment casualisation practices in the beverage sector in Lagos,

 Nigeria. *African Journal of Business & Economic Research*, 14(1), 177–194.

 https://doi.org/10.31920/1750-4562/2019/v14n1a9
- Adiguzel, Z., & Cakir, M. (2021). Examining the effect of moral leadership on employees in the manufacturing sector. *Electronic Journal of Social Sciences*, 20(77), 168-187. https://doi.org/10.17755/esosder.632439
- Aguila, E., Weidmer, B. A., Illingworth, A. R., & Martinez, H. (2016). Culturally competent informed-consent process to evaluate a social policy for older persons with low literacy: The Mexican case. *Sage Open*, *6*(3), 1-11.

https://doi.org.10.1177/2158244016665886

- Akmese, H., & Gundogan, H. (2020). The role of internal control in hotel business: A research on five-star hotels. *Omer Halisdemir Universitesi Iktisadi ve Idari Bilimler Fakültesi Dergisi*, 13(2), 227–241.

 https://doi.org/10.25287/ohuiibf.589519
- Alam, M. K. (2021). A systematic qualitative case study: Questions, data collection, NVivo analysis, and saturation. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 16(1),1–31. https://doi.org/10.1108/QROM-09-2019-1825
- Ali, A. M., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability, and generalizability. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, 5(1/2), 25-64. https://doi.org/10.22164/isea.v5i1.59
- Amundsen, D., Msoroka, M., & Findsen, B. (2017). It's a case of access. The problematics of accessing research participants. *Waikato Journal of Education*, 22, 5-7. https://doi.org/10.15663/wje.v22i4.425
- Anderson, J. (2012). Reflective journals as a tool for auto-ethnographic learning: A case study of student experiences with individualized sustainability. *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, *36*(4), 613-623.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03098265.2012.692157
- Association of Certified Fraud Examiners. (2022). Occupational fraud 2022: *Report to the nations*. https://legacy.acfe.com/report-to-the-nations/2022/
- Arkorful, V. E., Lugu, B. K., Arkorful, V. A., & Charway, S. M. (2022). Probing the predictors of fraud using the fraud diamond theory: An empirical evidence from

- local governments in Ghana. *Forum for Development Studies*, 49(2), 291–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039410.2022.2080759
- Azungah, T. (2018). Qualitative research: Deductive and inductive approaches to data analysis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *18*(4), 383-400. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-D-18-00035
- Bahoo, S., Alon, I., & Paltrinieri, A. (2020). Corruption in international business: A review and research agenda. *International Business Review*, 29(4), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2019.101660
- Baillie, L. (2015). Promoting and evaluating scientific rigour in qualitative research.

 Nursing Standard, 29(46), 36-42. https://doi.org.10.7748/ns.29.46.36.e8830
- Barrett, A., Kajamaa, A., & Johnston, J. (2020). How to be reflexive when conducting qualitative research. *The Clinical Teacher*, *17*(1), 9-12.

 https://doi.org.10.1111/tct.13133
- Barrio-Fraile, E., & Enrique-Jiménez, A.-M. (2021). The strategic value of corporate social responsibility (CSR): The present and future of its management. *Profesional de la Información*, *30*(3), Article e300312.

 http://www.profesionaldelainformacion.com/contenidos/2021/may/barrio-enrique.pdf
- Baxter, P., & Jack, S. (2008). Qualitative case study methodology: Study design and implementation for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, *13*, 544-559. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR13-4/baxter
- Bazart, C., Beaud, M., & Dubois, D. (2020). Whistleblowing vs. random audit: An

- experimental test of relative efficiency. *Kyklos*, 73(1), 47-67. https://doi.org/10.1111/kykl.12215
- Beka, A. A. (2020). The definition of corruption as a criminal occurrence. *Vizione*, *35*, 69-78. http://visionsmagazine.org/visions-magazine-issue-no-35/
- Belotto, M. J. (2018). Data analysis methods for qualitative research: Managing the challenges of coding, interrater reliability, and thematic analysis. *Qualitative Report*, 23(11), 2622-2633. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3492
- Bettany-Saltikov, J., & Whittaker, V. J. (2014). Selecting the most appropriate inferential statistical test for your quantitative research. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 23(11-12), 1520-1531. https://doi.org.10.1111/jocn.12343
- Bikas, H., Stavropoulos, P., & Chryssolouris, G. (2016). Additive manufacturing methods and modeling approaches: A critical review. *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology*, 83(1-4), 389-405. https://doi.org.10.1007/s00170015-7576-2
- Biros, M. (2018). Capacity, vulnerability, and informed consent for research. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 46(1), 72-78.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/1073110518766021
- Bowen, G. A. (2008). *Naturalistic inquiry and the saturation concept: A research note*. Sage. https://doi.org.10.1177/1468794107085301
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research* 29(7), 944–957. https://doi.org.10.1177/1049732318812448
- Brody, R. G., Knight, R. C., & Nunez, J. N. (2019). Born and raised to be a fraudster.

 **Journal of Investigative Psychology & Offender Profiling, 17(1), 46–58.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/jip.1535
- Burke, D. D., & Sanney, K. J. (2018). Applying the fraud triangle to higher education: Ethical implications. *Journal of Legal Studies Education*, *35*(1), 5-43. https://doi.org/10.1111/jlse.12068
- Bussmann, K. D., & Niemeczek, A. (2019). Compliance through company culture and values: An international study based on the example of corruption prevention.

 **Journal of Business Ethics*, 157, 797–811. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3681-5
- Cabana, G. C., & Kaptein, M. (2021). Team ethical cultures within an organization: A differentiation perspective on their existence and relevance. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 170,761-780. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04376-5
- Campbell, S., Greenwood, M., Prior, S., Shearer, T., Walkem, K., Young, S., Bywaters, D., & Walker, K. (2020). Purposive sampling: complex or simple? Research case examples. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, 25(8), 652–661. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987120927206
- Candela, A. G. (2019). Exploring the function of member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, 24(3), 619–628. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2019.3726

- Carlson, J. A. (2010). Avoiding traps in member checking. *The Qualitative Report*, *15*(5), 1102-1113. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2010.1332
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 811–831. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2016.2337
- Ceva, E., & Bocchiola, W. (2019). Personal trust, public accountability, and the justification of whistleblowing. *Journal of Political Philosophy*, 27(2), 187-206. https://doi.org/10.1111/jopp.12170
- Cheng, X., Fu, S., & Vreede, G. (2017). Understanding trust influencing factors in social media communication: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Information Management*, 37(2), 25–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/ijinfomgt.2016.11.009
- Christian, N., Basri, Y. Z., & Araafah, W. (2019). Analysis of fraud triangle, fraud diamond, and fraud pentagon theory to detect corporate fraud in Indonesia.

 International Journal of Business and Management Technology, 3(4), 73-78.

 www.theijbmt.com
- Clark, K. R., & Vealé, B. L. (2018). Strategies to enhance data collection and analysis in qualitative research. *Radiologic Technology*, 89, 482-485. http://www.radiologictechnology.org/content/89/5/482CT.extract
- Čmelíková, Z. (2017). Managing ethics in organizations Focusing innovation in creating ethical organizational culture. *Organization and Management*, 110, 13-25. https://doi.org/10.29119/1641-3466.2017.110.2
- Coldwell, D. A. L., Williamson, M., & Talbot, D. (2019). Organizational socialization

- and ethical fit: a conceptual development by serendipity. *Personnel Review*, 48(2), 511–527. https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-11-2017-0347
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Understanding research. Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25(6), 435–436. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30304614/
- Constantinou, C. S., Georgiou, M., & Perdikogianni, M. (2017). A comparative method for themes saturation (comets) in qualitative research. *Qualitative**Research 17(5), 571–588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116686650
- Correia, A. P., Liu, C., & Xu, F. (2020). Evaluating videoconferencing systems for the quality of the educational experience. *Distance Education*, 41(4), 429–452. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2020.1821607
- Crowe, M., Inder, M., & Porter, R. (2015). Conducting qualitative research in mental health: Thematic and content analyses. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 49(7), 616-623. https://doi.org/10.1177/0004867415582053
- Dalkin, S., Forster, N., Hodgson, P., Lhussier, M., & Carr, S. M. (2021). Using computer-assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS; NVivo) to assist in the complex process of realist theory generation, refinement, and testing.

 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 24(1), 123-134.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1803528
- Dawson, M., Guchait, P., & Madera, J. (2020). Organizational characteristics and personal values that define club management culture. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 21(3), 265-286. https://doi.org/10.1080/15256480.2018.1478354

- Deekonda, P., Hussain Mirza, A., & Jones, H. (2022). Impact of the COVID-19

 pandemic on acute otolaryngology inpatient activity at a tertiary referral centre: A retrospective analysis. *Clinical Otolaryngology*, 47, 447–454.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/coa.13920
- de Graaf, G., Huberts, L., & Strüwer, T. (2018). Integrity violations and corruption in western public governance: Empirical evidence and reflection from the Netherlands. *Public Integrity*, 20(2), 131-149. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2017.1350796
- DeJonckheere, M., & Vaughn, L. M. (2019). Semistructured interviewing in primary care research: A balance of relationship and rigour. *Family Medicine and Community Health*, 7(2), e000057. https://doi.org/10.1136/fmch-2018-000057
- Desai, N. (2020). Understanding the underpinnings of corporate fraud. *The Journal for Decision Makers*, 45(1), 25-31. https://doi.org/10.1177/02560909209177891
- Drabiak, J. D., & Wolfson, J. (2020). What should health care organizations do to reduce billing fraud and abuse? *AMA Journal of Ethics*, 22(3), 221-231. https://doi.org/10.1001/amajethics.2020.221
- Emami, F., Mirjafari, A., & Fazel, A. (2018). Relationship between organizational ethical climate and counterproductive work behaviors with the moderating role of personality characteristics. *Indian Journal of Positive Psychology*, *9*(3), 355-359. http://www.iahrw.com/index.php/home/journal_detail/19#list
- Enosh, G., & Ben-Ari, A. (2016). Reflexivity: The creation of liminal spaces
 Researchers, participants, and research encounters. *Qualitative Health Research*,

- 26, 578-584. https://doi.org.10.1177/104973231558787
- Federal Trade Commission. (2021). New data shows FTC received 2.2 million fraud reports from consumers in 2021. https://www.ftc.gov/news-events/press-releases/2021/02/new-data-shows-ftc-received-2-2-million-fraud-reports-consumers
- Fish, G. P., Self, S. W., Sargsyan, G., & McCullough, T. (2021). Preparation to prevent, detect, and manage fraud: A study of not-for-profits in south central Pennsylvania. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics, 18*(2), 43-55.

 www.na-businesspress.com/JLAE/jlaescholar.html
- Friesen, P., Kearns, L., Redman, B., & Caplan, A. L. (2017). Rethinking the Belmont Report? *The American Journal of Bioethics*, *17*(7), 15-21.https://doi.org/10.1080/15265161.2017.1329482
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(3), 923–941. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2580
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408-1416.

 http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3
- Gan, C. (2018). Ethical leadership and unethical employee behavior: A moderated mediation model. *Social Behaviour and Personality*, 46(8), 1271-1284. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7328
- Ganu, J. (2018). Moral courage: The essence of ethical leadership and

- followership. *Journal of Applied Christian Leadership*, *12*(2), 42-53. https://digitalcommons.andrews.edu/jacl/vol12/iss2/6/
- Glazer, S., Roach, K. N., Carmona, C., & Simonovich, H. (2018). Acculturation and adjustment as a function of perceived and objective value congruence.

 International Journal of Psychology, 53(S2), 13–22.

 https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12554
- Gottschalk, P. (2017). Convenience in white-collar crime: Introducing a core concept.

 Deviant Behavior, 38(5), 605-619.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2016.1197585
- Grobler, S., & Grobler, A. (2021). Ethical leadership, person-organizational fit, and productive energy: A South African sectoral comparative study. *Ethics and Behaviour*, 31(1), 21-37. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2019.1699412
- Groothuizen, J. E., Callwood, A., & Gallagher, A. (2018). What is the value of values based recruitment for nurse education programmes? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74, 1068–1077. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.13512
- Gunasegaran, M., Basiruddin, R., Abdul Rasid, S. Z., & Mohd Rizal, A. (2018). The case studies of fraud prevention mechanisms in the Malaysian medium enterprises.

 **Journal of Financial Crime*, 25(4), 1024–1038. https://doi.org/10.1108/jfc-05-2017-0034
- Halkias, D., & Neubert, M. (2020). Extension of theory in leadership and management studies using the multiple-case study design. *International Leadership Journal*, 12(2), 48–73. https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3586256

- Hanna, A., Briley, D., Einarsdottir, S., Hoff, K., & Rounds, J. (2021). Fit gets better: A longitudinal study of changes in interest fit in educational and work environments. *European Journal of Personality*, 35(4), 557-580. https://doi.org/10.117/08902070211014022
- Hanrahan, P. F. (2017). Deterring white-collar crime: Insights from Australia's insider trading penalties regime. *Law and Financial Markets Review*, 11(2–3), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/17521440.2017.1373440
- Hanson, W. B., Creswell, J., Plano Clark, Y. L., Petska, K. S., & Creswell, D. (2005).
 Mixed methods design in counseling psychology. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 52(2), 224-235. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.224
- Harrison, A. J., Dilla, W. N., & Mennecke, B. E. (2020). Relationships within the fraud diamond: The decision processes that influence fraudulent intentions in online consumer fraud. *Journal of Information Systems*, *34*(1), 61-80. https://doi.org/10.2308/isys-52627
- Haryonor, S. (2021). The effect of person job fit and person organization fit on employee performance with organizational citizenship behavior as mediator: Study of local government employees in Tojo Una-Una Regency. *Business Management Dynamics*, 10(12), 17–28. http://bmdynamics.com/
- Hashim, H. A., Salleh, Z., Shuhaimi, I., & Ismail, N. A. N. (2020). The risk of financial fraud: A management perspective. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 27(4), 1143–1159. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-04-2020-0062
- Hilal, W., Gadsden, S. A., & Yawney, J. (2022). Financial fraud: A review of anomaly

- detection techniques and recent advances. *Expert Systems with Applications*, 193, 1-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2021.116429
- Hope, K. R. (2019). Controlling corruption through integrity committees: The case of Zambia. *Public Integrity*, 21(3), 248-262. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2018.1468203
- Houdek, P. (2020). Fraud and understanding the moral mind: Need for implementation of organizational characteristics into behavioral ethics. *Science and Engineering*Ethics, 26, 691–707. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11948-019-00117-z
- Inaya, L. S., & Obasuyi, P. E. (2020). Assessment of the effect of fraud on the financial performance of Nigerian banks, *Journal of Academic Research in Economics*, 12(2), 290-311. http://www.jare-sh.com/downloads/jul_2020/inaya.pdf
- Jones, N. N. (2016). Narrative inquiry in human-centered design: Examining silence and voice to promote social justice in design scenarios. *Journal of Technical Writing and Communication*, 46(4), 471-492.

https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0047281616653489

- Jongsma, K., van Seventer, J., Verwoerd, A., & van Rensen, A. (2020).

 Recommendations from a James Lind Alliance priority setting partnership- A qualitative interview study. *Research Involvement and Engagement*, 6(1), 68. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40900-020-00240-3
- Jordan, K. (2018). Validity, reliability, and the case for participant-centered research:

 Reflections on a multi-platform social media study. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, *34*(10), 913–921.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2018.1471570

- Josephson, A., & Smale, M. (2020). What do you mean by "informed consent"? Ethics in economic development research. *Applied Economic Perspectives & Policy, 1*, 1-36. https://doi.org/10.1002/aepp.13112
- Karim, S., & Nadeem, S. (2019). Understanding the unique impact of dimensions of ethical leadership on employee attitudes. *Ethics and Behaviour*, 29(7), 572–594. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2019.1580582
- Kassem, R. (2019). Understanding financial reporting fraud in Egypt: Evidence from the audit field. *Third World Quarterly*, 40(11), 1996–2015. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2019.1626709
- Kazemian, S.,Said, J., Hady Nia, E., & Vakilifard, H. (2019). Examining fraud risk factors on asset misappropriation: Evidence from the Iranian banking industry. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 26 (2), 447-463. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-01-2018-0008
- Kim, R., Gangolly, J., Ravi, S. S., & Rosenkrantz, D. J. (2020). Formal analysis of segregation of duties (SoD) in accounting: A computational approach. *Abacus*, 56(2), 165–212. https://doi.org/10.1111/abac.12190
- Kimura, T., & Nishikawa, M. (2018). Ethical leadership and its cultural and institutional context: An empirical study in Japan. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *151*, 707–724. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3268-6
- Kintu, I., & Venter, R. (2019). Core values as drivers of entrepreneurial performance: A study of SMEs in Uganda's central region. *Development Southern Africa*, 36(5),

- 651–665. https://doi.org/10.1080/0376835X.2018.1559041
- Koçak, R. D., & Demir, S. (2019). Organizational culture and the Turkish military.

 Academik Bakis, 13(25), 37-51.

 https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/gav/issue/50603/658952
- Koomson, T. A., Owusu, G. M. Y., & Bekoe, R. A. (2020). Determinants of asset misappropriation at the workplace: The moderating role of perceived strength of internal controls. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 27(4), 1199-1211.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-04-2020-0067
- Kopun, D. (2020). Application of data mining techniques in the detection of financial statement fraud. *Journal of Accounting and Management*, *10*(2), 97-114. https://hrcak.srce.hr/207781
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

 4. Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24,

 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kranacher, M. J., Riley, R., & Wells, J. T. (2010). Forensic Accounting and Fraud Examination. John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken.
- Lamptey, E. K., & Singh, R. P. (2018). Fraud risk management over financial reporting:

 A contingency theory perspective. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics*, *15*(4), 66-75. https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v15i4.171
- Latan, H., Jabbour, C. J. C., & Lopes de Sousa Jabbour, A. B. (2019). Ethical awareness, ethical judgment and whistleblowing: A moderated mediation analysis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *155*, 289–304. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-64069-3_15

- Lederman, L. (2021). The fraud triangle and tax evasion. *Iowa Law Review*, 106(3), 1153-1207. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3339558
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2016). *Practical research: Planning and Design* (11th ed.). Pearson
- Levitt, H. M., Morrill, Z., Collins, K. M., & Rizo, J. L. (2021). The methodological integrity of critical qualitative research: Principles to support design and research review. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 68(3), 357–370. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000523
- Li, J. (2022). E-Commerce fraud detection model by computer artificial intelligence data mining. *Computational Intelligence & Neuroscience*, 1–9.

 https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/8783783
- Lima, M. S. M., & Delen, D. (2020). Predicting and explaining corruption across countries: A machine learning approach. *Government Information Quarterly*, 37(1),1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2019.101407.
- Lobe, B., Morgan, D., & Hoffman, K. A. (2020). Qualitative data collection in an era of social distancing. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920937875
- Lochmiller, C. R. (2021). Conducting thematic analysis with qualitative data. *The Qualitative Report*, 26(6), 2029-2044. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2021.5008
- Machado, M. R. R., & Gartner, I. R. (2018). The Cressey hypothesis (1953) and an investigation into the occurrence of corporate fraud: an empirical analysis

- conducted in Brazilian banking institutions. *Revista Contabilidade & Finanças*, 29(76), 60-81. https://doi.org/10.1590/1808-057x201803270
- Madah Marzuki, M., Nik Abdul Majid, W. Z., Azis, N. K., Rosman, R., & Haji
 Abdulatiff, N. K. (2020). Fraud risk management model: A content analysis
 approach. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics and Business*, 7(10), 717–728. https://doi.org/10.13106/JAFEB.2020.VOL7.NO10.717
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & de Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis: A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with traditional materials methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1-13. https://doi.org.10.1177/1609406918786362
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.). Sage.
- Maulidi, A., & Ansell, J. (2021). The concept of organization fraud: The need for rejuvenation of fraud theory. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 28(3), 784-796. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-09-2020-0180
- McGrath, C., Palmgren, P. J., & Liljedahl, M. (2019). Twelve tips for conducting qualitative research interviews. *Medical Teacher*, 41(9), 1002-1006. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497149
- Mohajan, H. K. (2017). Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and reliability. *Annals of Spiru Harit University Economic Series*, *17*(4), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.26458/1746
- Mohamed, N., & Handley-Schachelorb, M. (2014). Financial statement fraud risk mechanisms and strategies: The case studies of Malaysian commercial

- companies. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 145, 321 329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.06.041
- Moon, M. D. (2019). Triangulation: A method to increase validity, reliability, and legitimation in clinical research. *Journal of Emergency Nursing*, 45(1), 103–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jen.2018.11.004
- Moore, J. (2016). The relationship between organization size and occupational fraud

 (Publication No. 10095781) [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University] ProQuest

 Dissertations and Theses Global.
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(9), 1212–1222. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F1049732315588501
- Munthe-Kaas, H., Bohren, M. A., Glenton, C., Lewin, S., Noyes, J., Tunçalp, O., Booth, A., Garside, R., Colvin, C. J., Wainwright, M., Rashidian, A., Flottorp, S., & Carlsen, B. (2018). Applying grade-cerqual to qualitative evidence synthesis findings—paper 3: How to assess methodological limitations. *Implementation Science*, *13*(S1), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0690-9
- Naeem, R. M., Weng, Q., Hameed, Z., & Rasheed, M. I. (2019). Ethical leadership and work engagement: A moderated mediation model. *Ethics and Behaviour*, 30(1), 63-82. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508422.2019.1604232
- Nahartyo, E., Rohma, F. F., & Mursita, L. Y. (2020). The mediating effect of overcompensation of rationalisation on instrumental climate and escalation of corruption relationship. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 25(2), 1–21.

https://doi.org/10.21315/aamj2020.25.2.1

- Nakano, D., & Muniz, J., Jr. (2018). Writing the literature review for empirical papers.

 *Production, 28(0), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-6513.20170086
- Natalis, C. (2020). Behavioral strategy analysis using the fraud diamond theory approach to detecting corporate fraud in Indonesia. *Journal of Business and Management Intervention*, 9(4), 66-74. www.ijbmi.org
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and

 Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. U.S. Department of

 Health and Human Services. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/read-the-belmont-report/index.html
- Nawawi, A., & Salin, S. A. P. (2018). Internal control and employees' occupational fraud on expenditure claims. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 25(3), 891-906. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-07-2017-0067
- Nayir, D. Z., Rehg, M. T., & Asa, Y. (2018). Influence of ethical position on whistleblowing behavior: Do preferred channels in private and public sectors differ? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 149,147-167. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-016-3035-8
- Ngongo, C. J., Frick, K. D., Hightower, A. W., Matthingau, F. A., Burke, H., & Breiman, R. F. (2015). The perils of straying from protocol: Sampling bias and interviewer effects. *PLoS ONE 10*(2), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118025
- Niu, G., Yu, L., Fan, G. Z., & Zhang, D. (2019). Corporate fraud, risk avoidance, and

- housing investment in China. *Emerging Markets Review*, *39*, 18-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ememar.2019.03.003
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 18, 34-35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Nwoke, U. (2019). Whistleblowing as a corporate governance mechanism: South Africa and Nigeria in perspective. *Journal of Corporate Law Studies*, 19(2), 421-450. https://doi.org/10.1080/14735970.2018.1561795
- Olesen, T. (2022). Whistleblowing in a time of digital (in)visibility: Towards a sociology of 'grey areas'. *Information, Communication & Society*, 25(2), 295-310. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2020.1787484
- Oliveira, M., Bitencourt, C. C., Zanardo dos Santos, A. C. M., & Teixeira, E. K. (2016).

 Thematic content analysis: Is there a difference between the support provided by the Maxqda® and Nvivo® software packages? *Brazilian Journal of Management / Revista de Administração Da UFSM*, 9(1), 72–82.

 https://doi.org/10.5902/1983465911213
- Omukaga, K. O. (2021). Is this the fraud diamond perspective valid in Kenya? *Journal of Financial Crime*, 28(3), 810-840. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-11-2019-0141
- O'Neil, S., & Koekemoer, E. (2016). Two decades of qualitative research in psychology, Industrial and organizational psychology, and human resource management within South Africa: A critical review. SAJIP: *South African Journal of Industrial Psychology*, 42, 1-16. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v42i1.1350
- Othman, Z., & Hamid, F. Z. A. (2018). Dealing with (un)expected ethical dilemma:

- Experience from the field. *The Qualitative Report*, 23(4), 733-741. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2018.3050
- Pamungkas, D. I., Ghozali, I., & Achmad, T. (2018). A pilot study of corporate governance and accounting fraud: The fraud diamond model. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 12(2), 253-261. https://jbrmr.com/
- Pareto, J. (2020). Reforming public administration: The code of ethics in city councils.

 Ramon Llul Journal of Applied Ethics, 59-85.

 https://raco.cat/index.php/rljae/article/view/368517
- Paschoal, A. L. P., de Araújo Santos, N., & Faroni, W. (2020). The fraud diamond:

 Empirical evidence in the external demand reports of the Ministry of

 Transparency and General Comptroller of the Union (CGU) of Brazilian

 municipalities. *Accounting Environment Journal Federal University of Rio Grande do Norte-ISSN 2176-9036*, 12(2), 136-156].

 https://doi.org/10.21680/2176-9036.2020v12n2ID18732
- Peesker, K. M., Ryals, L. J., Rich, G. A., & Boehnke, S. E. (2019). A qualitative study of leader behaviors perceived to enable salesperson performance. *Journal of Personal Selling and Sales Management*, 39(4), 319–333. https://doi.org/10.1080/08853134.2019.1596816
- Peltier-Rivest, D., & Lanoue, N. (2015). Cutting fraud losses in Canadian organizations.

 **Journal of Financial Crime, 22(3), 295-304. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-11-2013-0064
- Pohjanoksa, J., Stolt, M., Suhoner, R., Löyttynieme, E., & Leino-Kilpi, H. (2019).

- Whistleblowing process in health care: From suspicion to action. *Nursing Ethics*, 26(2), 526-540. https://doi.org/10.1077/0969733017705005
- Popenoe, R., Langius-Eklof, A., Stenwall, E., & Jervaeus, A. (2021). A practical guide to data analysis in general literature reviews. *Nordic Journal of Nursing Reseach*41(4), 175-186. https://doi.org/10.1177/2057158521991949
- Raheim, M., Magnussen, L. V., Tveit Sekse, R. J., Lunde, A., Jacobsen, T., & Bylstad, A. (2016). *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health & Wellbeing*, 11, 1-12. https://doi.org.org/10.3402/qhw.v11.30996
- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406919862424
- Raso, R. (2020). Leading with our values [Editorial].

 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.000651196.93811.79
- Raza, J., Liu, Y., Zhang, J., Gul, H., Hassan, Z., & Aboud, K. (2021). How ethical leadership impacts deviant normative conduct? The role of trait affect, voice behaviour, and social support. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 73(2), 200-211. https://doi.org/10.1080/00049530.2021.1882274
- Rengganis, R. M. Y. D., Sari, M. M. R., Budiasih, I. G. A. N., Wirajaya, I. G. A., & Suprasto, H. B. (2019). The fraud diamond: Element in detecting financial statement of fraud. *International Research Journal of Management, IT and Social Sciences*, 6(3), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.21744/irjmis.v6n3.621
- Repousis, S., Lois, P., & Veli, V. (2019). An investigation of the fraud risk and fraud

- scheme methods in Greek commercial banks, *Journal of Money Laundering Control*, 22(1), 53-61. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMLC-11-2017-0065
- Rhodes, J., & Brook, C. (2021). Reflective journaling and WhatsApping as part of a management degree apprentice's action learning practice. *Action Learning:**Research and Practice, 18(1), 75–83.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/14767333.2021.1869188
- Ritchie, G., Ashworth, L., & Bades, A. (2018). Recruiting the next generation: applying a values-based approach to recruitment. *British Journal of Community Nursing*, 23(5), 232-237. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjcn.2018.23.5.232
- Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, K.-B. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data; a case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 1-8. https://doi.org.10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y
- Robinson-Fish, G., Self, S. W., & Sahloul, M. M. (2020). Not-for-profit asset misappropriation in South Central Pennsylvania. *International Journal of Business, Accounting, & Finance*, 14(2), 27–50. https://www.iabpad.com/not-for-profit-asset-misappropriation-in-south-central-pennsylvania/
- Roque, A., Moreira, M. M., Figueiredo, J. D., Albuquerque, R., & Gonçalves, H. (2020). Ethics beyond leadership: Can ethics survive bad leadership? *Journal of Global Responsibility*, 11(3), 275-294. https://doi.org/10.1108/JGR-06-2019-0065
- Saunders, M. N. K., & Townsend, K. (2016). Reporting and justifying the number of interview participants in organization and workplace research. *British Journal of*

- Management, 27, 836-852. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8551.12182
- Schuchter, A., & Levi, M. (2015). Beyond the fraud triangle: Swiss and Austrian elite fraudsters. *Accounting Forum 39*, 176–187. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accfor.2014.12.001
- Shakeel, F., Kruyen, P. M., & Van Thiel, S. (2019). Ethical leadership as process: A conceptual proposition. *Public Integrity*, 21, 613–624. https://doi.org/10.1080/10999922.2019.1606544
- Shepherd, D., & Button, M. (2019). Organizational inhibitions to addressing occupational fraud: A theory of differential rationalization. *Deviant Behavior*, 40(8), 971-99. https://doi.org/10.1080/01639625.2018.1453009
- Shonhadji, N., & Maulidi, A. (2021). The roles of whistleblowing system and fraud awareness as financial statement fraud deterrent. *International Journal of Ethics and Systems*, 37(3), 370-389. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOES-09-2020-0140
- Shostko, O. (2020). Promoting the legal protection of anti-corruption whistleblowers in Ukraine. *Demokratizatsiya: The Journal of Post-Soviet Democratization* 28(2), 229-246. https://muse.jhu.edu/article/754566
- Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(5), 619–634.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643
- Skousen, C. J., & Twedt, B. J. (2009). Fraud in emerging markets: A cross country analysis. Cross Cultural Management: An International Journal, 16, 301-316.

https://ssrn.com/abstract=1340586

- Song, C., Chang, C., & Gong, Q. (2021). Economic growth, corruption, and financial development: Global evidence. *Economic Modelling*, 94, 822-830.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2020.02.022
- Stuart, W., Gavin, D., William, N., & Katherine, P. (2018). Understanding barriers to the introduction of precision medicines in non-small cell lung cancer: A qualitative interview protocol. *Wellcome Open Research*, *3*, 1-12.

 https://doi.org.10.12688/wellcomeopenres.13976.1
- Suh, J. B., Nicolaides, R., & Trafford, R. (2019). The effects of reducing opportunity and fraud risk factors on the occurrence of occupational fraud in financial institutions. *International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice*, 56, 79-88.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlcj.2019.01.002
- Taguchi, N. (2018). Description and explanation of pragmatic development: Quantitative, qualitative and mixed methods research. *System*, 75, 23-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.system.2018.03.010
- Tran, M. D., & Le, T. T. H. (2018). The effect of internal control on asset misappropriation: The case of Vietnam. Business and Economic Horizons (BEH), 14(1232-2019-880), 941-953. http://doi.org/10.22004/ag.econ.287239
- Trochim, W. M. K. (2021, July 9). *Research methods knowledge base*. Atomic Dog Publishers. https://conjointly.com/kb/qualitative-validity/ (Original work published 2001)
- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. Qualitative Social

- Work, 11(1), 80–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325010368316
- Turaga, R. (2019). Effective communication in organizations. *IUP Journal of Soft Skills*, 13(1), 63–69. https://www.iupindia.in/307/ijss.asp
- Turner, D. W. (2010). Qualitative interview design: A protocol guide for novice investigators. *The Qualitative Report*, *15*(3), 754-760. https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2010.1178
- Ugaddan, R. G., & Park, S. M. (2018). Do trustful leadership, organizational justice, and motivation influence whistleblowing intention? Evidence from federal employees.

 Public Personnel Management, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1177/0091026018783009
- Van Akkeron, J., & Buckby, S. (2017). Perceptions on the causes of individual and fraudulent co-offending: Views of forensic accountants. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *146*, 383-404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2881-0
- van Rijnsoever, F. J. (2017). (I can't get no) saturation: A simulation and guidelines for sample sizes in qualitative research. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(7), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181689
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., & Monrouxe, L. V. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect:

 Problematizing thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, *51*, 40–50. https://doi.org.10.1111/medu.13124
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: Systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), N.PAG. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7

- Villegas, S., Lloyd, R. A., Tritt, A., & Vengrouskie, E. F. (2019). Human resources as ethical gatekeepers: Hiring ethics and employee selection. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics*, 16(2), 80-88. https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v16i2.2024
- Vincent, V. (2019). 360° recruitment: A holistic recruitment process. *Strategic HR Review*, 18(3), 128-132. https://doi.org/10.1108/SHR-02-2019-0006
- Vousinas, G. L. (2019). Advancing theory of fraud: The SCORE model. *Journal of Financial Crime*, 26(1), 372-381. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFC-12-2017-0128
- Wang, B., Yuedong, L., Xuan, W., & Wang, Y. (2021). Internal control, political connection and executive corruption. *Emerging markets Finance & Trade*, 1,1-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/1540496x.2021.1952069
- Wang, T. K., Fu, K., & Yang, K. (2018). Do good workplace relationships encourage employee whistleblowing? *Public Performance & Management Review*, 41(4), 768-789. https://doi.org/10.1080/15309576.2018.1464935
- Warrick, D. D., & Gardner, D. G. (2021). Leaders build cultures: Action steps for leaders to build successful organizational cultures. *Journal of Leadership Accountability* and Ethics, 18(1). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2017.01.011
- Wolfe, D. T., & Hermanson, D. R. (2004). The fraud diamond: Considering the four elements of fraud. *CPA Journal 74*(12), 38-42.

 https://digitalcommons.kennesaw.edu/facpubs/1537/
- Woods, S. (2019). Commentary 1: The role of ethical reflexivity in conducting ethically challenging qualitative research. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human**Research Ethics, 14(5) 462- 465. https://doi.org.10.1177/1556264619857856a

- Xerri, D. (2018). Two methodological challenges for teacher-researchers: Reflexivity and trustworthiness. *Clearing House*, *91*(1), 37-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/00098655.2017.1371549
- Yang, J., Tang, Z., Guan, Z., Hua, W., Wei, M., Wang, C., & Gu, C. (2021). Automatic feature engineering-based optimization method for car loan fraud detection. *Discrete Dynamics in Nature & Society*, 1–10.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6077540
- Yendrawati, R., Aulia, H., & Prabowo, H. Y. (2019). Detecting the likelihood of fraudulent financial reporting: An Analysis of fraud diamond. *Asia-Pacific Management Accounting Journal*, 14(1), 43–69.

 https://doi.org/10.24191/apmaj.v14i1-03
- Yeong, M. L., Ismail, R., Ismail, N. H., & Hamzah, M. I. (2018). Interview protocol refinement: Fine-tuning qualitative research interview questions for multi-racial populations in Malaysia. *Qualitative Report*, 23, 2700-2713.

 https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol23/iss11/7/
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). SAGE.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods. (6th ed.). SAGE.
- Yusuf, P. S. (2019). Effect of whistleblowing system and effectiveness of internal audit on good governance practices: Case study of BUMN companies in Bandung Indonesia. *Global Business and Management Research: An International Journal*, 11(1), 321-326. http://gbmrjournal.com/vol11no1.htm

- Zaal, R. O. S., Jeurissen, R. J. M., & Greenland, E. A. G. (2019). *Journal of Business Ethics*, 158, 825-848. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-017-3752-7
- Zerr, C. L., Berg, J. J., Nelson, S. M., Fishell, A. K., Neil, K. S., & McDermott, K. B. (2018). Learning Efficiency: Identifying individual differences in learning rate and retention in healthy adults. *Sage*, *29*(9), 1436-1450. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F0956797618772540
- Zulkaply, N. H. (2019, November 5-6). The influence of fraud elements on asset misappropriation: A fraud triangle perspective. [Conference Session].
 International Conference on Accounting and Management, Selangor, Malaysia.
 https://ir.uitm.edu.my/id/eprint/43556

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Before the Interview

- 1. I will identify potential participants.
- 2. I will send an email with the consent form to each participant and request confirmation of participation by email.
- 3. I will verify the participant's ideal interview time.
- 4. I will email the interview questions to participants for review.

During the Interview

- 1. I will start the meeting with a welcome and introduction.
- 2. I will thank each participant for agreeing to participate.
- I will discuss recording, transcription, and interpretation of data and the member checking process.
- 4. I will inform the participant of the following:
 - (a) I will record the session.
 - (b) I will assign a code to the participant.
 - (c) The participant may withdraw from the interview without penalty.
 - (d) I will schedule a follow-up interview to conduct member checking at the end of the interviewing.
 - (e) I will begin recording the responses to interview questions and probe for details during the interview.
 - (f) I will record notes in my field journal.

After the Interview

- 1. I will save the Zoom recording and name the file.
- 2. I will schedule member-checking sessions to discuss the interpretations with participants.
- 3. Following the interview, I will transcribe the data from digital recordings and edit and store the data securely.
- 4. I will interpret responses, incorporate journal notes, and prepare the interpretations of each interview.
- 5. Upon completion, I will upload data to the NVivo software for data analysis and storage.
- 6. I will meet with each participant to conduct member checking.
- 7. I will make revisions and begin preparing the final analysis.

Appendix B: Invitation for Research Study Participation

Email Subject: Doctoral Study - Requesting Your Participation

Good day [Name],

I have received permission from the management of your organization to conduct a study in fulfillment of my doctoral degree at Walden University. The study will examine 'The Strategies to Prevent Occupational Fraud in the Financial Sector.

I am now recruiting four managers who have worked with the organization for 3 years and who are willing to assist me by participating voluntarily in the study. The data I collect is 100% confidential, only for the purpose of this study, and will NOT be shared with anyone. You will not be identified on any document or files, as you will be assigned a code name only.

I have attached the following documents that I now ask you to peruse ahead of your decision to participate:

- 1. Summary of the study
- 2. The permission received from your organization
- 3. The consent form
- 4. The interview questions

Please read the Consent Form. If you are willing to participate, please reply to this email with the words "I consent."

Sincerely,

Cecile McCormack